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          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Good morning.

          3  My name is Madeline Provenzano, and I chair the

          4  Committee on Housing and Buildings.

          5                 Today this Committee is conducting

          6  its second hearing concerning proposed Intro. No.

          7  186-A. Please turn off cell phones. Turn off the

          8  real phones, too. We don't want any phone calls here

          9  today.

         10                 Proposed Intro. No. 186-A, a Local

         11  Law to amend the Administrative Code of the City of

         12  New York, in relation to creating a right of first

         13  refusal and a first opportunity to purchase.

         14                 This legislative item was drafted to

         15  address the need to preserve affordable housing in

         16  New York City. In a City that is faced with a

         17  growing shortage of affordable housing, government

         18  must made hard choices about how and where to extend

         19  our resources.

         20                 Many of us recognize the need to

         21  create affordable housing, and are working to

         22  negotiate and acquire funds for such growth in our

         23  City.

         24                 However, additional incentives and

         25  mechanisms are still needed to maintain existing
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          2  affordable housing where it already exists, and to

          3  reach those persons in need.

          4                 With less affordable places to

          5  reside, low and moderate-income families are finding

          6  it more difficult to reside within the City.

          7                 Proposed Intro. No. 186-A would

          8  create a right of first refusal and a first

          9  opportunity to purchase which in essence would give

         10  tenants an opportunity to purchase the property

         11  where they reside under specific circumstances.

         12                 Proposed Intro. No. 186-A would apply

         13  to certain housing developments, created,

         14  administered or supervised by the City or State

         15  under Article 2 or Article 4 of the Private Housing

         16  Finance Law to developments providing project-based

         17  assistance, Section 8 of the United States Housing

         18  Act of 1937 and to housing developments subject to

         19  mortgage insurance programs under Sections 202, 207,

         20  221, 232, 236 or 811 of the National Housing Act.

         21                 This Committee recognizes that this

         22  bill has continued to invoke discussion and support

         23  amount tenants groups and housing advocates, and

         24  anticipates that all sides and points of view with

         25  respect to this legislation will be considered.
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          2                 Some of the highlights of this

          3  amended bill can be summarized as follows:

          4                 The Department of Housing

          5  Preservation and Development has no longer been

          6  designated in the bill as a preliminary purchaser of

          7  the assisted rental housing.

          8                 Two, owners can now expect to receive

          9  an appraised market value for their buildings, in

         10  which in some cases should result in a reasonable

         11  speculative value.

         12                 And three, tenants now have the

         13  express ability to assign their right of first

         14  refusal and right of first opportunity to purchase

         15  to not-for-profit corporations, as well as to

         16  for-profit corporations, thereby potentially

         17  increasing their chances of receiving the necessary

         18  finances to purchase and own a property where they

         19  reside.

         20                 Anyone wishing to testify should sign

         21  in with the Sergeant-At-Arms, and one of the, or

         22  probably the main sponsor of this legislation is

         23  Council Member Alan Gerson, who is here today. We

         24  are also joined by Councilwoman Arroyo, our newest

         25  Council member. Welcome. And there are no other
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          2  Committee members, so, Council Member Gerson, would

          3  you like to say a few words?

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: A few words.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: A few words.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Good morning,

          7  Madam Chair, Council Member, Commissioner, ladies

          8  and gentlemen of the audience. First of all, Madam

          9  Chair, it's always a pleasure to participate in any

         10  proceeding with you, especially under your

         11  leadership, and I want to thank you for that, for

         12  all you do, and I've said it for countless times and

         13  I'll say it countless times again, our City and

         14  especially our housing and real estate situation,

         15  are in better hands because they're in your hands,

         16  and I want to thank you for your fairness, and for

         17  your wisdom.

         18                 I would be remiss if I did not

         19  acknowledge at the outset, because so much work has

         20  gone into this effort and this bill and this

         21  hearing, the outstanding work of my Director of

         22  Legislation, Solomon Turkell, and the outstanding

         23  attorneys of the Council who serve this Committee,

         24  Freddie Kaplan and Terzah Nasser, and of course Jeff

         25  Haberman.
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          2                 I don't know of any other legislative

          3  bill which has received so much legal attention, let

          4  alone policy attention as this one, which leads me

          5  to believe that we are on sound legal footing, and

          6  as well in good legal hands.

          7                 This is a second hearing so I do not

          8  feel compelled to reiterate the purposes and reasons

          9  behind this bill. I stand by my statements at the

         10  outset of the first hearing on the record.

         11                 I just want to note, when we had the

         12  first hearing it was held in the other room in the

         13  main chambers with an overflow audience, reflecting

         14  the depth of concern over this issue and support for

         15  this bill. That turnout remains, and externally can

         16  and will be demonstrated at appropriate times as we

         17  move forward until we resolve this issue.

         18                 It is my hope that this hearing will

         19  be another major step forward, it will focus more on

         20  the details of the proposal. We will have a good

         21  dialogue with our administration, with our HPD

         22  Commissioner, and his team, as well as the other

         23  expert witnesses who will testify.

         24                 I'll just make the point that the

         25  amendments and changes made between last time and
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          2  this time reflect the fundamental goals and purposes

          3  of this bill, and that is to create a win win win,

          4  and I'll repeat that, win win win outcome. Win for

          5  the tenants who face the loss of their affordable

          6  homes, and face potential eviction, homelessness or

          7  having to more out of the City after they built

          8  their lives and their communities. Win for owners,

          9  by assuring that they will receive the full return

         10  on their economic investments and that we honor the

         11  original contracts by guaranteeing them full fair

         12  market value, indeed beyond full fair market value,

         13  as well as a price that matches any bonafide greater

         14  price which they might receive. So, win for the

         15  owners, we recognize continue to play an important

         16  role in maintaining the housing stock of our City.

         17                 And, finally, win for the City of New

         18  York, so we assure the continuation of housing

         19  diversity, including true, affordable housing in a

         20  way which every governmental leader, the Governor

         21  and the Mayor included, have pronounced remains

         22  important to New York, and that we maintain a

         23  diverse mixture of housing stock in the most cost

         24  effective way, which requires that we preserve the

         25  many more units currently existing but said to
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          2  expire that we will ever be able to create.

          3                 So, I ask the witnesses, in closing,

          4  Madam Chair, I ask the witnesses, we want to make

          5  this bill serve those win win win purposes. We want

          6  your constructive input. We are not taking a vote

          7  today. We want your input to make this bill work in

          8  that win win win way. And I'm hoping we'll be able

          9  to have a constructive dialogue putting politics

         10  aside and at the end of the day come out with an

         11  outcome, which serves that triple win.

         12                 Madam Chair, I just need to

         13  acknowledge present in the audience is Lee Chung,

         14  from the Office of Borough President C. Virginia

         15  Fields, who has been a leader in this effort, and I

         16  would be remiss and presumably hear from her later,

         17  but we have Margaret Chin, who is the Executive

         18  Director of Asian Americans for Equality, one of the

         19  outstanding affordable housing developers in the

         20  City.

         21                 Finally, I need to announce one

         22  change mentioned to you, which I didn't have the

         23  opportunity previously, a last minute change in the

         24  witness roster, Professor Paula Francizia of

         25  Professor of Real Estate Law of the Seton Hall Law
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          2  School, who testified at the first hearing was

          3  prepared to testify this hearing, but she is not

          4  able to make it due to the death of someone who is a

          5  friend of hers who had an association with Seton

          6  Hall, but was a great figure for all of us in our

          7  time, that is of the late Congress Member Peter

          8  Rodino, who as we know passed away just this past

          9  weekend, and she needs to attend to affairs related

         10  to that.

         11                 However, as we mourn his loss,

         12  however, we join her in mourning his loss, she did

         13  tell me that she stands by her testimony at the

         14  first hearing, adding her expertise to the

         15  proposition that this bill is legal and appropriate,

         16  as well as necessary.

         17                 Madam Chair, I thank you, and I look

         18  forward to our hearing.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you,

         20  Council member.

         21                 We have the Commissioner of HPD,

         22  Shaun Donovan. Welcome.

         23                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: Thank you. And

         24  good morning, Chairwoman Provenzano and members of

         25  the Housing and Buildings Committee.
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          2                 I am Shaun Donovan, Commissioner of

          3  Housing Preservation and Development, and I am

          4  pleased to be with you today to discuss Intro.

          5  186-A, to update you on some of our programs, and to

          6  describe some of the affordable housing challenges

          7  that still confront us.

          8                 In addition to the Mayor's $3 billion

          9  new Housing Marketplace Plan to create and preserve

         10  65,000 units of affordable housing, which the

         11  Enterprize Foundation reaffirmed with their

         12  unprecedented $1 billion commitment last fall, we

         13  recently made an announcement that will fulfill a

         14  promise first made in 1989.

         15                 Last month the Mayor and City

         16  Comptroller Thompson proposed the establishment of

         17  the New York City Housing Trust Fund, a $130 million

         18  fund to be spent over the next four years to create,

         19  preserve up to 4,500 units of affordable housing for

         20  low-income New Yorkers.

         21                 The source of these funds would be

         22  revenues from the Battery Park City Authority.

         23  Establishment of the Housing Trust Fund requires the

         24  approval of Governor Pataki's designee to the

         25  Battery Park City Authority, which we hope will
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          2  occur in the near future.

          3                 We intend to dedicate a significant

          4  portion of the trust fund to preservation efforts.

          5  Specifically we expect that this fund will assist

          6  the City in rehabilitating existing units, such as

          7  those in HPD's low-income housing tax credit

          8  portfolio, and those in the HUD portfolio.

          9                 In addition, it will allow us to

         10  provide deeper levels of subsidy on new construction

         11  projects to serve low-income families, and will

         12  provide financing for land acquisition and

         13  predevelopment costs.

         14                 As you are no doubt aware, we are

         15  also undertaking several other major preservation

         16  initiatives. We are currently pursuing State

         17  Legislation to maintain the affordability of

         18  Mitchell-Lama Housing.

         19                 This year, HPD has resubmitted

         20  legislation in Albany that encourages owners to

         21  remain in the program by allowing them to receive a

         22  return on equity greater than six percent.

         23                 In addition, owners that participate

         24  would be subject to rent guidelines board increases.

         25                 More importantly, when a buyout does
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          2  occur, this bill assures that all tenants are

          3  protected by requiring that all Mitchell-Lama Units

          4  are rent regulated upon the buyout.

          5                 The Assembly bill passed by an

          6  overwhelming margin on February 9th, while the

          7  companion bill is pending in the Senate Housing

          8  Committee.

          9                 Last summer, the Governor also signed

         10  a refinancing bill for Mitchell Lama developments,

         11  which enables owners to refinance their mortgages,

         12  and obtain more favorable rates if they agree to

         13  remain in the program for an additional six years.

         14                 Additionally, New York City's Housing

         15  Development Corporation initiated a program whereby

         16  owners of Mitchell-Lama developments, can refinance

         17  and restructure mortgages and reduce their monthly

         18  debt service.

         19                 This program not only improves cash

         20  flow, it relieves rent increase pressures on tenants

         21  and provides an additional capital repair loan from

         22  the Housing Development Corporation, to be used for

         23  major repairs on these aging properties.

         24                 Owners who participate in this

         25  program must remain in the Mitchell-Lama Program for
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          2  15 years.

          3                 Each DC has already closed 15

          4  refinancings, which will keep 6,205 units of housing

          5  affordable for an other 15 years.

          6                 HDC anticipates that an additional 15

          7  developments with 7,397 units will refinance by this

          8  summer.

          9                 HPD also collaborated with the

         10  Council on Resolution 388-A, which passed on

         11  February 2nd. This legislation implemented Chapters

         12  389 and 449 of New York State's laws of 2003 and

         13  granted tax exemption extensions for both State and

         14  City Mitchell Lama developments for an additional 50

         15  years.

         16                 This resolution benefitted both State

         17  and City Mitchell-Lama developments and is another

         18  example of how the City is encouraging owners to

         19  remain in the Mitchell-Lama Program.

         20                 In addition to these significant

         21  efforts, I am pleased to announce that we just

         22  introduced in the State Legislature two new J-51

         23  bills that will encourage Mitchell-Lama developments

         24  to remain in the program.

         25                 One bill would eliminate the $40,000
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          2  assessed valuation cap for Mitchell-Lama co-ops that

          3  want to participate in the J-51 tax benefit program.

          4                 The J-51 provides to a variety of

          5  building improvements, such as heating systems,

          6  plumbing, wiring, elevators and window replacements,

          7  and has been primarily responsible for much of the

          8  rehabilitation and upgrades of the City's housing

          9  stock.

         10                 Mitchell-Lama co-ops are subject to

         11  statutory retail limitations and even though their

         12  assessed valuation may be high, the owners cannot

         13  benefit from profits on resale. This bill also

         14  requires that developments taking advantage of this

         15  tax benefit remain in the Mitchell-Lama program for

         16  at least 15 years.

         17                 The second bill that we are

         18  circulating for introduction in Albany would enable

         19  a Mitchell-Lama development to obtain J-51 tax

         20  benefits, even if the rehabilitation is financed

         21  with a government grant, loan or subsidy.

         22                 Currently, Mitchell-Lama developments

         23  can only receive a J-51 tax benefit if the

         24  rehabilitation is financed entirely by private

         25  funding.
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          2                 We believe that this legislation

          3  provides another tool to maintain and preserve our

          4  affordable housing stock.

          5                 This bill will also require that the

          6  development remain in the Mitchell-Lama Program for

          7  at least 15 years after the benefits commence.

          8                 In the meantime, HPD has worked

          9  successfully with the Council with local development

         10  groups to transfer troubled properties from the US

         11  Department of Housing and Urban Development's

         12  portfolio. Such as Pleasant East Apartments.

         13                 Pleasant East was transferred to

         14  ACORN and thanks to City Council funds, it will

         15  shortly commence rehabilitation.

         16                 Another development, Logan Garden

         17  Senior Citizen Complex, has been transferred to

         18  Catch.

         19                 Logan Gardens also received City

         20  Council financing this year. The Bronx Center for

         21  Independent Living, which provides Housing for the

         22  Disabled, has been transferred to VIP services.

         23                 Two buildings in the Bronx,

         24  Thessalonica and Brookhaven, have transferred to new

         25  ownership headed by Mo Vaughn, and rehabilitation
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          2  will begin shortly. These buildings already account

          3  for almost 500 units of subsidized housing that has

          4  been preserved.

          5                 Presently, we have two more projects,

          6  Ennis Francis and Gates Patchen, that we hope to

          7  transfer to new ownership in the coming months. If

          8  completed, these two buildings will add another 330

          9  units of preserved affordable housing, before the

         10  end of this Fiscal Year.

         11                 On a broader scale, recent

         12  discussions with HUD had given us great hope that we

         13  may reach an agreement to transfer all HUD-owned

         14  mortgages to the City and to eventually gain control

         15  of all failed HUD buildings as well.

         16                 As our portfolio of in-rem housing

         17  continues to decline, these agreements with HUD and

         18  other partnerships provide mutuals for the creation

         19  and preservation of affordable housing.

         20                 In addition to these preservation

         21  efforts, the agency has been working hard on two key

         22  administration initiatives that will ensure an

         23  increase in the City's Housing stock over the long

         24  term.

         25                 As you know, the Council approved the
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          2  Administration's plan to rezone the Hudson Yards in

          3  January, breaking new ground by creating the most

          4  aggressive inclusionary zoning program in the

          5  country.

          6                 The Hudson Yards plan should generate

          7  13,600 new housing units, 28 percent of which would

          8  be affordable. And just last week, the Land Use

          9  Committee and Zoning and Franchises Subcommittee

         10  voting unanimously to approve the Administration's

         11  rezoning plan for the Greenpoint and Williamsburg

         12  neighborhoods of Brooklyn.

         13                 We expect to create nearly 11,000

         14  units of housing, fully one-third of them

         15  affordable. These two rezonings would never have

         16  occurred without the spirit of cooperation that

         17  exists between the Council, community housing

         18  organizations, the real estate industry and the

         19  Administration.

         20                 Let me now address Intro. 186-A.

         21  Though the Administration strongly supports efforts

         22  to preserve affordable housing and increased

         23  incentives for home ownership, we do not believe

         24  that this bill will achieve these goals.

         25                 To be specific, we believe that this
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          2  bill continues to violate State and federal law, and

          3  if enacted could be invalidated in short order by

          4  the courts. As a result, it would ultimately provide

          5  no relief to its intended beneficiaries, the

          6  tenants, and would subject the City to potentially

          7  vast liability.

          8                 We believe that Intro. 186 violates a

          9  number of State laws, primarily the eminent domain

         10  procedure law.

         11                 Beyond eminent domain, it also raises

         12  constitutional takings issues, by purporting to

         13  impose local restrictions on projects that are

         14  subject to federal statutes and regulations, the

         15  bill may also violate both the applicable federal

         16  statutes and the Supremacy Clause of the

         17  Constitution.

         18                 Additionally, one provision of the

         19  bill may also violate the Contracts Clause of the

         20  Constitution.

         21                 This Administration is committed to

         22  building and preserving affordable housing in safe

         23  and stable neighborhoods. We will continue to work

         24  with the Council, other elected officials, the real

         25  estate industry and housing advocacy groups to do
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          2  this effectively.

          3                 Thank you, and I will now take your

          4  questions.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you,

          6  Commissioner.

          7                 I also thank you for the rundown on

          8  all the positive things that you're doing and for

          9  all your agency's help in the affordable housing

         10  issue.

         11                 I and my staff particularly know how

         12  hard you work on that. Thank you.

         13                 We've also been joined by Council

         14  Member Robert Jackson, and Council Member Lew

         15  Fidler.

         16                 Do you have any questions?

         17                 Council Member Gerson, questions?

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Just, if I

         19  may, Madam Chair, address a housekeeping item,

         20  because I see several folks standing because

         21  originally we were scheduled for the main chambers

         22  and we had to switch. I know some of you standing

         23  are probably here to testify, and it will probably

         24  be a little bit of a while til we conclude

         25  questioning and discussions with the Administration
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          2  and other expert witnesses. You're welcome to remain

          3  standing, however, if you would like, a member of my

          4  staff would be happy to escort you downstairs to the

          5  lounge to sit and then we will go down and bring you

          6  up, and as the Chairs become available or when it's

          7  time for you to testify. So, if anyone would like

          8  that, Solomon, you can just see if anyone would like

          9  that. You're welcome to remain and stand, if you

         10  choose.

         11                 Commissioner, thank you very much.

         12  Let me just second what the recognition, our Chair,

         13  noted as to you and your efforts and reiterate what

         14  I've also said in the past, that I have the utmost

         15  of respect for your commitment and your outstanding

         16  work and indeed your stellar leadership in this area

         17  which is why I hope that in the end of the day we'll

         18  be able to reach a resolution on a form of a bill

         19  which will serve the purposes which I know we all

         20  share.

         21                 Let me just ask you, from your

         22  testimony it sounds like your concerns about this

         23  bill are all legal in nature, your concern that the

         24  bill might not withstand challenge for one reason or

         25  another the reasons you cited. Hypothetically, if we
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          2  adjust the bill, and in a way that your lawyers and

          3  our lawyers concur, obviates any of the legal

          4  questions, would you then conceptually support this

          5  bill?

          6                 In other words, if we convince your

          7  lawyers that there are no more legal issues, could

          8  you see yourself in support of a bill that along the

          9  lines that we propose?

         10                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: I would say two

         11  things about that, Councilman, first of all, I think

         12  as you know, we've looked at this in depth over a

         13  number of months, and fundamentally, the eminent

         14  domain procedure law will not allow any governmental

         15  entity to compel an owner to sell a property to a

         16  particular owner.

         17                 And, so, I don't believe, after

         18  having looked at this for an extensive period of

         19  time, with my lawyers who I think are extremely

         20  capable, that we will find a way to get over that

         21  issue.

         22                 I just don't think given the legal

         23  context in the State of New York that that is a

         24  solvable issue.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: But I asked
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          2  you a hypothetical.

          3                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: Second of all.

          4  Second of all, as I said in my earlier testimony,

          5  the most important thing that we can do to ensure

          6  that tenants and other preservation owners have the

          7  ability to buy and preserve properties, is to create

          8  the resources for them to be able to do so. And as I

          9  discussed in my testimony, we have worked very hard,

         10  and in fact, have made a great deal of progress,

         11  even since the last time I testified on this bill in

         12  that area.

         13                 We've introduced, as I mentioned, new

         14  legislation that would allow J-51 benefits for

         15  preservation of these properties. We are working

         16  hard with a dozen foundations, including Ford and

         17  Rockefeller and a number of others to expand our new

         18  Ventures Incentive Program, as an acquisition

         19  funding pool to buy and preserve these properties,

         20  and, in fact, have announced the intention to create

         21  New York City Housing Trust Fund, much of which

         22  would be indicated to preservation.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Something we

         24  together have called for for awhile.

         25                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: Absolutely.
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          2                 And, so, we believe that given that,

          3  we are moving in the right direction to try and

          4  maximize the preservation efforts in the City on

          5  these properties.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: I certainly

          7  concur that you are moving in the right direction,

          8  and our job is to get this City to move even quicker

          9  and more completely in the right direction with you.

         10                 So, let me reiterate my question,

         11  which I don't believe you answered.

         12                 If we resolve the legal challenges,

         13  either through the force of legal opinion, and two

         14  months is not a very long time for a complete legal

         15  analysis, I assure you, of new legislation, or

         16  hypothetically if we succeed in changing the New

         17  York State eminent domain law, if that is what is

         18  required, which I don't believe, but we're now

         19  talking hypothetical terms, and there are people at

         20  the State level who are very interested in seeing

         21  this bill pass. So, if we are able to accomplish

         22  resolution of the legal issues, one way or the

         23  other, would the Administration then support the

         24  bill, or at least reconsider its support of the

         25  bill?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: I believe I

          3  answered the question. First of all, we do not

          4  believe that --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: You could

          6  answer it yes or no.

          7                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: We do not

          8  believe that issue is a solvable one legally. The

          9  fundamental premise of the bill is to compel an

         10  owner to sell a property to a particular buyer, and

         11  we don't believe that that is a legal requirement in

         12  the State of New York.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: So, let me ask

         14  you this, rather than go over the ground we've

         15  covered. You cited the West Side development

         16  associated with the Jets Stadium project. I take it

         17  you're also familiar with the proposed development

         18  in Brooklyn involving the proposed Nets arena and

         19  surrounding housing and commercial development. Is

         20  it the position of HPD that if there lies within any

         21  of that area slated for development, either on the

         22  Manhattan West Side or in the Brooklyn area, if

         23  there lies any rental Mitchell-Lama or any

         24  subsidized affordable housing development, that

         25  those properties cannot be condemned and the
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          2  contours of the development project will have to be

          3  drawn in a way to allow those Mitchell-Lama or other

          4  affordable housing developments to remain untouched;

          5  is that HPD's position?

          6                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: Are you asking

          7  whether condemnation is a tool that could be used in

          8  those developments or any other?

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: I'm asking if

         10  there is, and I don't know if there is, but I would

         11  bet, I would guess that there is at least one either

         12  rental Mitchell Lama or project-based Section 8 or

         13  other affordable housing development, within the

         14  West Side Development or Brooklyn Nets development

         15  area, and I'm asking you for that one building, is

         16  it HPD's position that that building must remain or

         17  cannot be condemned or taken for the purposes of the

         18  overall developments? That we have to leave those

         19  buildings alone? Is it your position that those

         20  buildings have to remain standing and cannot be

         21  touched for the purposes of the West Side or the

         22  Brooklyn Developments?

         23                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: Okay, I'm not

         24  aware of any residential development that would be

         25  condemned for those actions that would be covered by
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          2  this bill.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: There is in

          4  the West Side I believe some residential property.

          5  But if there were, would it be HPD's position that

          6  the City not touch those buildings?

          7                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: I don't believe

          8  there would be any reason or intention to do that.

          9  Honestly, Councilman, I'm not sure what the question

         10  is here. Are you asking if condemnation --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: City

         12  condemning the property -- okay, let's drop the

         13  Mitchell-Lama or affordable housing development

         14  context. I take it the City is condemning private

         15  property to accomplish the goals of the Jets Stadium

         16  and the associated development and the Nets Stadium

         17  and the associated development. I think we all know

         18  that's the case.

         19                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: As part of the

         20  Hudson Yards Plan, there is condemnation planned.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Of private

         22  property?

         23                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: To create a

         24  boulevard and to create other public amenities as

         25  part of the plan, that is correct.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Okay, so, we

          3  can take private property.

          4                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: If what you're

          5  asking is, is condemnation legal, yes, if it follows

          6  the legally required mandates of the law. Yes.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: So, if we

          8  follow the criteria for taking or equivalent of a

          9  condemnation, there is nothing inherently the

         10  technical legal criteria, there is nothing

         11  inherently fundamentally wrong or unconstitutional

         12  in transferring or implementing a required transfer

         13  through a right of first refusal and the associated

         14  mechanisms of the expiring housing unit to

         15  not-for-profit or tenant ownership, if we meet all

         16  of the required elements for the transfer of private

         17  property to public purposes.

         18                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: If it were done

         19  under the legally required mandates of the law and

         20  for a public purpose, which would have to be

         21  determined.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Do you regard

         23  the preservation of affordable housing as a public

         24  purpose?

         25                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: I would regard
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          2  it as a good purpose. I think you would have to look

          3  at the specifics to determine whether it meets the

          4  legal requirements or public purpose.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Well, you're

          6  in the Housing Preservation and Development, and you

          7  are a public officer, so do you regard it as a good

          8  public purpose?

          9                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: It would depend

         10  who it's being transferred to and what, in fact the

         11  requirements of that preservation were, what the

         12  time period. Any of these would require a very

         13  specific analysis of the particulars of the

         14  transaction that you're talking about.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: And that goes

         16  back to my original question, that's what we have to

         17  complete before we pass final legal muster.

         18                 Are you familiar with the

         19  condemnation associated with the New York Times

         20  expansion project in Midtown?

         21                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: I'm not.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: You would be

         23  surprised if I were to tell you that there was

         24  private property condemned for the purposes of

         25  allowing the New York Times to maintain and expand

                                                            32

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  its presence in Midtown Manhattan?

          3                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: I would not be.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: So, again,

          5  it's hard to understand why we can condemn private

          6  property to benefit a commercial enterprise, i.e.,

          7  the New York Times, and not do so for the public or

          8  for what you described as the good purpose of

          9  preserving affordable housing, assuming we need all

         10  the elements of due process that we owe to the

         11  owners. And would it not surprise you if we could

         12  condemn property for the New York Times but not for

         13  the tenants that live in the housing which they want

         14  to -- which they have lived in for years and years?

         15                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: Again, I think

         16  if the particulars of that condemnation followed the

         17  requirements of the law, I think it could be

         18  accomplished. I think that's an independent question

         19  from whether it's a good thing to preserve that

         20  housing.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: So it all

         22  boils down to the particulars?

         23                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: Yes.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Let me ask you

         25  this and I'll move on and I'll wrap up as briefly as
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          2  I can.

          3                 How many units of existing rental

          4  Mitchell-Lama or rental project-based Section 8 or

          5  State Article 4 or the equivalent are set to, within

          6  the City of New York are set to expire within the

          7  next ten years?

          8                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: I don't have

          9  those figures with me.

         10                 What I can tell you is that between

         11  the Mitchell-Lama housing stock, project-based

         12  Section 8 and other HUD stuck, and our low-income

         13  tax credit portfolio, we have over 200,000 units of

         14  affordable housing within those stocks, and those

         15  are enormously important resources for the City of

         16  New York.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: And all or

         18  most of them are of a nature that they have a sunset

         19  provision, after which if nothing is done, the

         20  owners can take the units to market or luxury or

         21  whatever they choose to do, unless they're covered

         22  by -- unless they happen to fall within the rent

         23  stabilization based on when they were built; is that

         24  correct?

         25                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: That is correct
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          2  for the Mitchell-Lamas, which have all reached their

          3  expiration, and for the HUD stock, most of which

          4  have reached their expiration.

          5                 The low-income tax credits we have

          6  second loans on which allow us to continue to

          7  require their affordability beyond their currently

          8  expirations.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Fair enough.

         10                 In how many units of affordable

         11  housing will the Mayor create under the various

         12  plans you've outlined within the next ten years? Or

         13  let me rephrase that.

         14                 Will the City create under the

         15  various programs you've outlined within the next ten

         16  years?

         17                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: Within the new

         18  marketplace plan alone, it's the creation or

         19  preservation of 65,000 units. But that does not

         20  include, for instance, the thousands of units that

         21  are being refinanced through the Mitchell-Lama

         22  program at HDC.

         23                 It does not include new units that

         24  are being created through the rezonings. It does not

         25  include the HUD stock that we are looking to
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          2  purchase.

          3                 So there are tens of thousands of

          4  additional units that I think will be preserved or

          5  created through those programs.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: So, you cited,

          7  even out of tens of thousands with 65,000 that we

          8  get into the issue of -- well, let me ask you this:

          9  When you say affordable housing, what is the

         10  income-range that the Administration views as

         11  qualifying for affordable housing? When you say

         12  affordable, you're talking about up to what income

         13  amount?

         14                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: The significant

         15  majority of all of our resources are targeted at

         16  low-income families, defined as -- family of four

         17  below $50,000 a year.

         18                 Primarily those are targeted at

         19  families making thirty- to forty-thousand dollars a

         20  year. But they do go up to for a family of four as

         21  high as $100,000 a year for a family of four.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: So, affordable

         23  housing can go up to, in some cases of $100,000 for

         24  a family of four.

         25                 Okay, so, if you factor that in, and
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          2  you said there's over 200,000 units of potentially

          3  expiring housing, and then if you add up the units

          4  you're creating, even including the $100,000 units,

          5  it sounds to me that if we don't do anything, that

          6  if I'm doing my addition right, if we don't do

          7  anything to preserve beyond the existing programs

          8  which you've cited and which are reflected in the

          9  numbers which you testified, if we don't do anything

         10  more to preserve the other housing, sounds to me

         11  that at best maybe we're breaking even and at worst

         12  we're always going to be playing catch-up in the

         13  City in terms of affordable housing, because we're

         14  going to be creating on one hand and losing on the

         15  other hand. That's just basic arithmetic.

         16                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: I would say two

         17  things about that. First of all, the 200,000 units

         18  that I talked about, only a very small fraction of

         19  that is expiring each year.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: But I asked

         21  you over ten years.

         22                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: Right, and I'd

         23  have to get those figures to you. But it's certainly

         24  not the majority of that 200,000 units that would be

         25  leaving the programs or opting out. A far smaller
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          2  number of those are actually leaving the stock this

          3  year.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: What

          5  percentage are --

          6                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: The other thing

          7  I would say --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: What

          9  percentage are --

         10                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: If I could just

         11  finish.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Excuse me --

         13                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: The second

         14  thing I would say about that is that I completely

         15  agree, we should be doing a great deal to preserve

         16  that housing stock and I think we are.

         17                 The most important thing that we can

         18  do is create resources so that tenants and other

         19  preservation owners have the resources that they

         20  need to be able to preserve their housing, just as

         21  we did at West Village, just as we've done with all

         22  the HUD stock that I talked to you about in my

         23  testimony, creating those resources is the number

         24  one, most important priority for preserving that

         25  housing stock, and that's what we're focused on.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Well, let me

          3  ask you this, and then I'll pause, Madam Chair, if

          4  my colleagues have any further questions. And I'm

          5  glad to hear you agree as to the imperative of

          6  preserving, you know, this potentially expiring

          7  housing.

          8                 Could we then obtain a commitment

          9  from the administration to create an affordable

         10  housing preservation fund that would do

         11  systematically or provide resources on a Citywide

         12  basis of the sort which this Administration provided

         13  to the West Village Houses, to make those types of

         14  buy-outs possible? Is that something we're going to

         15  be seeing happen?

         16                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: As I mentioned

         17  earlier, we are already actually working on that.

         18                 We're working on an expansion of our

         19  new VIP (phonetic) to as much as $250 million which

         20  would allow tenants and other groups to buy and

         21  preserve their housing. It's essentially equity-like

         22  funding that would be available for both acquisition

         23  of land and also acquisition of property.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: So let me ask

         25  you this: Say we get this fund established, and of
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          2  course, then we want to have processes that make the

          3  fund accessible and available, when I say the fund,

          4  I mean the fund including money, tax credits, the

          5  range of financial instruments, the package, would

          6  there be any problem in a law that provides expanded

          7  information, notice to tenants, tenants

          8  associations, in advance of a projects expiration

          9  period of an owner's intent to withdraw from the

         10  project or to sell to another owner, or provide

         11  information to tenants and tenant associations and

         12  community groups so they have the opportunity to

         13  access this fund or other funds in order to match

         14  any offer or to submit a bid? Just an information

         15  provision kind of regulation. Do you think we could

         16  come up with something along those lines?

         17                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: Actually, those

         18  provisions already exist.  In each of the different

         19  types of housing stock that we're talking about,

         20  there are existing notification provisions in the

         21  HUD stock, there's a one-year notification before

         22  expiration of a Section 8 contract. In the

         23  Mitchell-Lama stock there is a notification that's

         24  already required. So, those exist. I think what we

         25  can do beyond that that can be very helpful is to
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          2  create technical assistance and sort of

          3  infrastructure to help tenants and other

          4  preservation groups to try and buy their own

          5  properties.

          6                 And take the example of West Village

          7  Houses. We worked closely with the tenants there on

          8  a potential solution that allowed them to buy. So,

          9  that kind of technical assistance is very important,

         10  and there is more that we can do on that front.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: And I'm glad

         12  to hear that and I agree with you 100 percent,

         13  because I don't think it's possible in any

         14  Administration to provide the attention and

         15  resources which you did to the West Village Houses

         16  to every one of the expiring developments in this

         17  City which might be interested in a West Village

         18  type of outcome, unless we have a systematized

         19  approach.

         20                 But let me ask you, I know there are

         21  notice provisions currently, and they vary from

         22  development to development and there may be some,

         23  for instance, depending on the outcome of

         24  litigation, the old State Article 4, the predecessor

         25  to Mitchell-Lama which deals with the 1,300 units in
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          2  Knickerbocker Road in my district, which may

          3  actually lack certain notice requirements. But the

          4  notice and the type of notice, the amount of time

          5  for the notice varies. If we wanted to kind of make

          6  it uniform or provide in some cases additional

          7  information, or a little bit of additional time,

          8  that's something we could look at, can't we?

          9                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: I'd certainly

         10  be willing to look at whatever you might propose.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Okay. It

         12  doesn't strike any bells that that's automatically

         13  illegal or problematic? We'd have to look at it, but

         14  it's something we at least can look at, right?

         15                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: Yes.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: And also, what

         17  about a provision saying that an owner in making a

         18  sale of private property cannot discriminate against

         19  purchasers who are not-for-profit organizations or

         20  tenants associations?

         21                 We have a lot of non-discrimination

         22  laws in this City, as you well know, you can't

         23  discriminate against a purchaser on the basis of

         24  race, religion, status, in many cases, if we were to

         25  add a non-discrimination clause that in the sale of

                                                            42

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  real property, of this type of real property, you

          3  cannot discriminate against potential purchasers who

          4  are not-for-profit organizations or tenant

          5  associations. Would that be something you could

          6  consider?

          7                 I know I'm asking this for the first

          8  time.

          9                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: Okay.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: See, I'm just

         11  asking if you would consider it.

         12                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: We would have

         13  to look at it. I'm not sure whether there would be

         14  -- I guess it could be done, depending on how it

         15  was drafted, whether there would be issues with that

         16  or not.

         17                 I would say is that more important

         18  than that I think is figuring out a way to help

         19  non-profits have the capacity and the resources to

         20  buy these properties.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: We're in

         22  agreement on that point.

         23                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: Within this

         24  expanded new VIP fund that we're working to create,

         25  we would have preferential underwriting and other
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          2  types of advantages for non-profit purchasers.

          3                 I think that's the direction we

          4  really ought to be focused on. I don't know a single

          5  owner who isn't willing to sell to a non-profit that

          6  can offer a competitive price. It's really the

          7  resources that are the missing piece here from those

          8  groups. And it's the non-profit who have trouble

          9  raising that equity, and that's what we're trying to

         10  solve with this fund.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: From the very

         12  beginning of our efforts for Intro. 186, we made it

         13  clear that this bill would require concomitantly the

         14  establishment of an affordable housing preservation

         15  fund, which I'm glad to hear you have endorsed.

         16                 So, I'm with you 100 percent. But my

         17  hope is if we establish, we need a legal right as

         18  well, that itself will generate interest of the

         19  private sector, of the not-for-profit sector to

         20  coming into this market and themselves abetting

         21  potential purchasers.

         22                 And you know, you say you don't know

         23  of situations, well, history is full of situations

         24  where owners of property did not want to sell to

         25  particular classes of potential purchasers, and
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          2  that's why we have all sorts of non-discrimination

          3  statutes, and in some cases owners might not want

          4  to, if they can avoid it be bothered with dealing

          5  with tenant associations or those types of groups.

          6  So, that's why I asked you if you would at least

          7  consider a non-discrimination type of a statute, and

          8  I take it you said you would at least consider that.

          9                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: We'll look at

         10  whatever you might propose.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Okay.

         12                 And I would just point out, Madam

         13  Chair, that really the fundamental of 186 is that

         14  combination, when really what we're doing is we're

         15  saying give tenant associations and community groups

         16  information and notice so they can come up with an

         17  offer, and owners do not, you cannot discriminate

         18  against a bonafide offer from a tenant association

         19  from, you know, that's $1 more or whatever than

         20  market value or your bonafide, your bonafide counter

         21  offer.

         22                 So, really 186, and this is why our

         23  lawyers say it does not violate takings or

         24  condemnation law, we're just combining the two

         25  things which the Commissioner testified to that he
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          2  would consider and maybe we need to clarify our

          3  language to make it clear, but information to tenant

          4  associations, to allow them to come up with offers,

          5  and a requirement that if they do come up with an

          6  offer, that meets, or maybe we have to make it a

          7  dollar more or so, so there is no discrimination,

          8  that the owner has to effectuate the purchase.

          9                 That's really all this bill does.

         10  And since you said in effect that you would consider

         11  these two aspects separately, I hope we could come

         12  to terms and consider them together, which I assure

         13  you is the intent of the bill.

         14                 I actually have one other question,

         15  but I will pause, Madam Chair, if you wanted to see

         16  if you or any of my colleagues -- and to take a

         17  breath. Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Council

         19  Member Robert Jackson.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Thank you,

         21  Madam Chair.

         22                 Alan, you made me laugh when you said

         23  you'd take a pause. But sometimes you do have to

         24  take a pause and refocus and then come back even

         25  stronger.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: I follow your

          3  example, Council Member Jackson. Action Jackson.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Commissioner,

          5  and Deputy Commissioner, thank you for being here. I

          6  appreciate the opportunity to discuss with you some

          7  issues concerning proposed Intro. 186-A.

          8                 First, let me just say, on behalf of

          9  all of my constituents in Hamilton Heights at Logan

         10  Garden, I thank you and all the other people

         11  involved to ensuring that these residents will

         12  hopefully see the light at the end of the tunnel

         13  that they've been suffering as a result of a

         14  situation there.

         15                 You were there sort of like a press

         16  conference celebration, along with the other

         17  advocates and federal people, so I appreciate

         18  everything and the cooperation that you have done on

         19  behalf of those people in Logan Garden.

         20                 Let me just, I read a letter I guess

         21  that was addressed to you, and it seems as, I don't

         22  quite understand it, it was addressed to you by

         23  quite a number of groups and organizations that deal

         24  with affordable housing, and it said basically that

         25  they would try to meet with you concerning after
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          2  186-A was brought about, and they're basically

          3  saying that you refused to meet with them, and I

          4  don't quite understand.

          5                 You know, first I want to know is

          6  that the truth?

          7                 And secondly, I would want to think

          8  that when groups are interested in affordable

          9  housing, whether or not, what side of the fence

         10  they're on, whether they're advocates or developers

         11  or whatever, that you would want to meet with them,

         12  especially a large group like this.

         13                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: Well, first, I

         14  would say it was a great day at Logan Gardens and I

         15  want to make sure that that happens all over the

         16  City, and we're very encouraged by the progress that

         17  we've made with HUD on the other properties that are

         18  coming down the line. Ennis Francis, right around

         19  the corner from Logan Gardens and others.

         20                 On the letter I think really all I'd

         21  say is there is a misunderstanding there, because we

         22  received a revised version of this bill, I think a

         23  week ago, and got a call from tenants and neighbors

         24  about scheduling a meeting last week. I think as you

         25  know, we had been in I think pretty much
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          2  round-the-clock negotiations with the Council around

          3  the Greenpoint Williamsburg rezoning, and, frankly,

          4  my schedule just didn't allow on a day or two notice

          5  being able to sit down and discuss it.

          6                 I have traded probably a dozen

          7  messages with Michael McKee about this issue,

          8  including trying to reach him over the weekend to

          9  discuss it.

         10                 We've been very open to sitting down

         11  and discussing this issue. Our lawyers have been

         12  involved in those discussions. There have been

         13  extensive discussions with this group over the past

         14  five months. What happened here is we got a revision

         15  of the bill only a week ago, and we're not able to

         16  sit down just in the last few days, myself

         17  personally to have that meeting. I think it's not a

         18  symbol that, where it hasn't been an extensive

         19  amount of dialogue on this, and we've been committed

         20  to trying to figure out how to resolve this, but we

         21  simply have not been able to get over this

         22  fundamental legal issue.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay. Well, I

         24  appreciate your response, because I do understand

         25  the situation with the Greenpoint Williamsburg
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          2  negotiation, so I know that that was extremely busy.

          3  I've talked to some of my colleagues, and they were

          4  telling me to 1:30 in the morning, what have you,

          5  and so forth. So, I know this is pretty busy and I

          6  understand that that turned out to be a very

          7  positive thing on behalf of the residents of

          8  Greenpoint Williamsburg and, so, I appreciate

          9  everyone's involvement in that to come to I guess a

         10  consensus on an agreement in terms of that

         11  particular area.

         12                 And I'm glad to hear that you didn't

         13  refuse, but basically because of that business and

         14  because you've been -- you just haven't gotten

         15  together. Obviously this bill is still a bill and I

         16  know that there is time between now and whenever the

         17  bill is voted out of committee for you to get

         18  together and have that discussion.

         19                 Let me, I have a couple of questions,

         20  if you don't mind, and I'm going to try to answer

         21  them as quickly as I can, so that we can move

         22  forward.

         23                 After years of public investment in

         24  affordable housing stock, shouldn't the City seek to

         25  preserve that investment, particularly given that
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          2  affordable housing crisis in New York?

          3                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: Absolutely. And

          4  I think we're doing a great deal. I won't go back

          5  over some of the things that I mentioned in my

          6  testimony or earlier in my answering questions, but

          7  I couldn't agree with you more, preservation of

          8  affordable housing is a top priority for us.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Do you see

         10  186-A as a vehicle toward preserving affordable

         11  housing stock in New York City?

         12                 Because obviously the tenants and

         13  neighbors and other advocates, I'm a primary sponsor

         14  of the bill, I see this as an avenue of preserving

         15  affordable housing.

         16                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: Two comments on

         17  that.

         18                 First of all, there's a fundamental

         19  issue, which is the legal context that exists in New

         20  York State, what we believe does not allow what is

         21  required in 186 to be done legally.

         22                 Second of all, I see the key missing

         23  ingredient in allowing residents and other

         24  preservation-minded owners to purchase these

         25  properties, the primary barrier is resources, and
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          2  that is where our efforts have been focused, is on

          3  making sure that those resources are available for

          4  those preservation efforts.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I heard you

          6  allude to this establishment of the affordable

          7  housing and preservation fund in answering a

          8  question put forward by Alan Gerson. Has the City

          9  committed towards putting money into this fund? And

         10  if so, how much?

         11                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: There are two

         12  different pieces that I would point to. We have lots

         13  of resources, tax benefits and other things that

         14  already go towards preservation of affordable

         15  housing. The two specific things that I talked

         16  about, the New Ventures Incentive Program, currently

         17  is a $40 million fund that includes an $8 million

         18  commitment from the City. We are looking to expand

         19  that to $250 million and have been working with

         20  about a dozen foundations to gain a commitment from

         21  them of $50 million as a guarantee fund, which would

         22  allow us to expand the entire pool using private

         23  financing up to $250 million.

         24                 The second resource that I would

         25  mention is the commitment that the Mayor and the
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          2  Comptroller made to create a New York City Housing

          3  Trust Fund using Battery Park City revenues.

          4                 That would be $130 million over the

          5  next four years, and roughly a third of that would

          6  be dedicated to preservation efforts, focused

          7  exactly at the kind of stock that we're talking

          8  about today, the tax credits, HUD portfolio, and

          9  Mitchell-Lama as well.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: In the

         11  community that I represent, you may, I know that

         12  your other commissioners, your deputies and

         13  assistants, they know the area that I represent. I

         14  represent the 123rd Street and Broadway up to 218th

         15  Street, end of Manhattan. And many, many of my

         16  residents that I represent are very, very concerned

         17  about the fact that they're being squeezed out

         18  overall, and that affordable housing is disappearing

         19  in the neighborhoods that I represent, Hamilton

         20  Heights area, for example, the most recent situation

         21  with 3333 Broadway where the owner opted out of the

         22  project-based subsidy and the owner sold the

         23  building to another owner and what have you and so

         24  forth. And I know that your people are processing

         25  the enhanced vouchers; is that correct?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: Um-hmmm.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: But people

          4  are afraid and concerned. They see this as one way

          5  of ensuring that they can maintain affordable

          6  housing. What type of message do you give me to give

          7  to them in response to their concerns?

          8                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: What I would

          9  say is that we could not be working harder to try

         10  and preserve that housing stock. Just as we

         11  celebrated at Logan Garden, we have efforts that are

         12  going on, both through the two funds that I talked

         13  about. Our bills that were just introduced on J-51

         14  and preserving that housing stock, we have many,

         15  many different initiatives that we're undertaking to

         16  try and make sure that they can stay in their homes.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Has the Mayor

         18  put forward a bill that includes HUD subsidized

         19  housing? Any type of law or bill? Is the Mayor

         20  putting forward anything to maintain affordable

         21  housing?

         22                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: We have a

         23  number of discussions going on right with our office

         24  in Washington about some federal changes to the law

         25  that would enhance our ability to preserve HUD
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          2  housing stock. But our primary efforts there are

          3  programmatic with HUD. They've recently agreed to

          4  transfer about 350 single-family homes to us over

          5  the next two years.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Those are the

          7  ones that were involved in the scandal?

          8                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: Those are

          9  similar ones.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.

         11                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: Those were the

         12  203 K properties which we already have under

         13  renovation that we're working on. These would be

         14  additional homes that had been foreclosed, and the

         15  City will be able to purchase them at a substantial

         16  discount to their market value and thereby create

         17  affordable housing through their renovation.

         18                 We're also working with them on

         19  getting control of about 3,000 units of troubled

         20  multi-family stock as well, similar to Logan Gardens

         21  and the other types of properties that we've been

         22  working on.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I'll pass for

         24  now, Madam Chair. Thanks.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: We've been
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          2  joined by Councilwoman Letitia James.

          3                 Council Member Arroyo, you have a

          4  question?

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: Good morning,

          6  Commissioner, and thank you for your testimony.

          7                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: Good morning.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: It does answer

          9  a lot of questions that I wanted to pose.

         10                 First, I'd like to congratulate you

         11  and your staff. The individuals who I have had the

         12  pleasure to work with over the last three months

         13  since I was elected are stellar individuals and very

         14  dedicated, very knowledgeable and have been very

         15  helpful. Carol Clark is in the audience here, Desa

         16  Arroyo, no relations to me, I just want to make that

         17  public. Very helpful, very informative. I want to

         18  thank you for their involvement in my life.

         19                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: Thank you very

         20  much. I would just recognize Joe Rosenberg sitting

         21  next to me. He and his staff, Carol and others, I

         22  think do a tremendous job.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: Thank you.

         24                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: As do all of

         25  your staffs.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: Thank you.

          3                 You mentioned the proposed Housing

          4  Development Fund Corporation. What happens if it

          5  doesn't come to fruition?

          6                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: I'm sorry, the

          7  Housing --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: The Mayor and

          9  Comptroller proposed --

         10                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: The Battery

         11  Park City?

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: Yes.

         13                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: The Battery

         14  Park City Funding?

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: Yes.

         16                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: Well, first of

         17  all, I would say we are very optimistic that it will

         18  come to pass.

         19                 If for some reason it doesn't, we

         20  will continue in our other efforts, like with the

         21  New Ventures Incentive Program, to expand it to $250

         22  million, so that we ensure that there are adequate

         23  resources available to be able to preserve the

         24  housing stock. That, combined with J-51 benefits,

         25  and other tax incentives that we're enhancing I
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          2  think, will ensure that even without those funds,

          3  we're still able to ensure that housing is

          4  preserved.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: When will you

          6  know that it's going to happen?

          7                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: I'm hopeful

          8  that in the coming weeks we will have confirmation

          9  from the Governor's Office that it's been approved.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: Okay.

         11                 And the J-51 legislation of the

         12  State. The State being the animal that it is, and we

         13  appreciate how slow it moves, what's your sense of

         14  how quickly that's going to be resolved positive or

         15  negative?

         16                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: Given our

         17  excellent staff up in Albany led by Joe Rosenberg, I

         18  think we're very hopeful that we would be able to

         19  get passage of both those bills during this session.

         20  I will turn it over to Joe for any more specifics he

         21  might be able to give you.

         22                 MR. ROSENBERG: I can just give you a

         23  status report of how the two bills are going.

         24                 The bill the Commissioner referred to

         25  that eliminates the assessed value cap of 40 thou,
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          2  to allow eligibility for Mitchell-Lamas to get J-51

          3  benefits. It's in print, it's been sponsored by

          4  Frank Padavan in the Senate and Brian McLaughlin and

          5  Veto Lopez in the Assembly, and it's on a real

          6  property tax committee agenda next Tuesday. And

          7  we're currently pressing to have it placed on the

          8  local government committee and the senate so things

          9  are looking quite good.

         10                 The second bill that allows

         11  Mitchell-Lamas that get governmental assistance for

         12  rehab to be eligible for J-51, we just circulated it

         13  last Tuesday, and this, too, will be a Padavan bill

         14  in the Senate and McLaughlin/Lopez bill in the

         15  Assembly.

         16                 These are influential legislators.

         17  These are not only HPD, but City priority bills and

         18  we're quite optimistic about both of them.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: And now a

         20  statement, not a question, and it's not related to

         21  the bill, but I have taken a very strong position

         22  about HPD supporting homeless programs in my

         23  district. And my new term is No More In My Back

         24  Yard. And I want to make that perfectly clear

         25  publicly, that what projects get proposed for the
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          2  17th District are around affordable housing,

          3  preferably ownership housing for individuals who

          4  could not afford to by a $400,000 home. Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Okay.

          6  Councilwoman James.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Thank you. Good

          8  morning. Good morning, Commissioner Donovan and to

          9  my good friend Mr. Rosenberg, who happens to live in

         10  my district, but nonetheless, I do ask him some

         11  tough questions from time to time.

         12                 Let me begin with Tiddily Towers.

         13  Tiddily Towers is located two blocks from Ebbots

         14  Field. The tenants received notices two weeks ago

         15  that the landlord was going to opt out. It's a

         16  Mitchell-Lama State development, over I believe 300

         17  to 400 units. The landlord in the notice indicated

         18  that he would opt out within a year and the

         19  apartments would go on the market for rent.

         20                 And, so, this is the first time, I

         21  just got notice this past week, and Assemblyman

         22  Roger Green is working with my office, and so I'd

         23  like to have a discussion with you at some point in

         24  time, regarding Tiddily Towers, to preserve those

         25  apartments, to preserve those apartments and ensure
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          2  that they remain affordable.

          3                 In addition to that, you know that

          4  since I've been elected, I've been on this campaign

          5  to either have Ebbots Field taken over by the City,

          6  or have Ebbots Field the subject of eminent domain

          7  or eminent domain meaning that someone else would

          8  come in and take it over, not that it would be

          9  condemned. But the management at Ebbots Field has

         10  failed and has failed miserably with regards to

         11  maintaining those apartments.

         12                 As you know, Ebbots Field is a

         13  mini-city, individuals are paying market rent and

         14  some are subsidized, and the conditions in that

         15  building rival the conditions in public housing,

         16  and, again, there's over 600 violations in that

         17  building. And Ebbots Field, we've got to do

         18  something drastic with regards to Ebbots Field, as

         19  opposed to entering into these agreements, where he

         20  basically says that he's addressing the needs and

         21  concerns of the tenants and, yet, when I go there

         22  and personally inspect myself, nothing has happened.

         23  And I recognize he is a major philanthropist, but

         24  nonetheless, the management of Ebbots Field and the

         25  ownership of Ebbots Fields has got to go.
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          2                 And, so, if we had to preserve

          3  affordable housing, and we had to ensure that the

          4  housing in this City of New York addresses the

          5  concerns and needs of residents in Crown Heights,

          6  Ebbots Field is my number one priority and I will

          7  stay on Ebbots Field until it is corrected.

          8                 And now Tivoli Towers, which is right

          9  around the corner.

         10                 But let me bring you, let me just

         11  talk about the 186, which I proudly support.

         12                 In my absence, Councilman Gerson

         13  brought up the issue of eminent domain. And as

         14  you've know, I've been fighting a major project in

         15  my district in the Borough of Brooklyn, the largest

         16  development project in three decades in Brooklyn

         17  which is going to fundamentally change the character

         18  and the landscape of Brooklyn, which a portion of it

         19  the City, the State and this developer, Forest City

         20  Ratner, is using eminent domain, taking two City

         21  blocks, six City streets, one firehouse, for the

         22  purposes of building an arena for New Jersey Nets.

         23                 I'm adamantly opposed to the abuse of

         24  eminent domain. And so my question to you is in your

         25  statement you indicated that this bill 186-A would
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          2  violate the eminent domain stature, and I say to

          3  you, if, in fact, if it's good for the New Jersey

          4  Nets, why is it not good for the tenants in the City

          5  of New York?

          6                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: Council Member,

          7  first of all, let me just answer your questions that

          8  you raised earlier.

          9                 Tivoli Towers is a State-sponsored

         10  Mitchell-Lama --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Yes.

         12                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: Which is

         13  covered by 236. And, so, those residents would all

         14  be protected by enhanced vouchers that would allow

         15  them to remain at an affordable rent, while our

         16  preference is to preserve those properties without

         17  having to use the enhanced vouchers and that's why

         18  we're creating the funds that I talked about

         19  earlier, and the tax incentives.

         20                 We are, in fact, able to protect the

         21  residents that are there through the enhanced

         22  vouchers that are available.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Thank you.

         24                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: We are in fact

         25  able to protect the residents that are there through

                                                            63

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  enhanced vouchers that are available.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Thank you.

          4                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: On Ebbots

          5  Field, I think we've been working with your office

          6  for some time and we appreciate your focus on this

          7  and your interest in improving the conditions.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: I'm very anal

          9  when it comes to Ebbots Field.

         10                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: Yes.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And I will

         12  continue to be anal, and I make no apologies for it.

         13                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: And I believe,

         14  as you know, we have entered into a repair agreement

         15  with the owner that sets out a very specific

         16  timetables for repairs of those conditions that we

         17  have identified. If those timetables are not met, we

         18  will pursue litigation against that owner.

         19                 And, so, you can be assured that we

         20  are focused very much on making sure that the

         21  conditions improved, and if not, that we get a

         22  responsible owner.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Let me just say

         24  that the last time that we entered into an agreement

         25  with the management, I did a checkoff. In fact, I
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          2  had individuals go building to building, tenant to

          3  tenant, and, in fact, he's failed that agreement.

          4  And, so, I would urge you to initiate litigation

          5  immediately.

          6                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: Okay. We'd be

          7  happy to discuss that further with you.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Thank you.

          9                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: On the issue of

         10  eminent domain, my statement earlier in my testimony

         11  is that this bill actually does not follow the

         12  procedures of the eminent domain law. And that is

         13  the fundamental issue. It is requiring an owner to

         14  transfer a property to a specific owner designated

         15  by a governmental entity without following the

         16  procedure of the eminent domain law. That is really

         17  the issue that I discussed, and that's why there's a

         18  fundamental legal problem with the bill.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: So what you're

         20  suggesting is if we incorporate the procedures with

         21  regards the eminent domain stature, then it would

         22  pass constitutional muster as it relates to that

         23  statute?

         24                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: If it was done

         25  through an eminent domain process that met the
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          2  statutory requirements, yes, it would be legal.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Okay. So, in

          4  regards to my project, the State and the City of New

          5  York have entered into an MOU. They're in the

          6  process, the State is in the process of notifying

          7  tenants with regards to the exercise of eminent

          8  domain. We are awaiting a United States Supreme

          9  Court Decision with regards to the abuse of eminent

         10  domain. I'm hoping and praying that it will protect

         11  the rights of tenants, and protect the rights of

         12  particularly those in the footprint of Atlantic

         13  Yards and including some small businesses, and I

         14  believe the properties would be assessed at a

         15  certain, appraised at a certain value, and then

         16  there's an administrative hearing to determine the

         17  value of their homes.

         18                 That's basically the procedure of the

         19  eminent domain stature, yes?

         20                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: As far as I

         21  understand, yes.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: So, I guess the

         23  question is whether or not we can incorporate those

         24  protections in this bill to ensure that they are

         25  consistent with that statute, I wouldn't have any

                                                            66

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  problems with that. But, again, my position is if

          3  it's good for a private developer, it should be good

          4  for the tenants and the residents of the City of New

          5  York as we preserve affordable housing.

          6                 Let me just move on to your second

          7  point. You also indicate that this may violate the

          8  contract's clause of the constitution. Can you

          9  elaborate a little bit further on that?

         10                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: There was a

         11  specific provision that was added to the bill that

         12  we were talking about. If you'll just give me a

         13  moment, I'll pull up that.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Yes, if you can

         15  refer to the section.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: While you're

         17  looking, I'd just like to say that we've been joined

         18  by Council Member Leroy Comrie.

         19                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: Councilwoman,

         20  what I would ask, just given my general counsel is

         21  not here, I would ask if we could get you the

         22  specifics of that --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Sure.

         24                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: -- Provision

         25  afterwards?
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Sure.

          3                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: Joe and I are,

          4  he's a lawyer but I'm not.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Okay.

          6                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: We're debating

          7  whether it's one of two provisions that --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: As well as the

          9  Supremacy Clause, just as well?

         10                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: Yes. We'd be

         11  happy to get you more details on that.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Thank you.

         13  Again, I'd like to follow up on Ebbots Field, as

         14  well as Tiddily Towers. Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

         16                 Council Member Gerson, you have -- do

         17  you guys have any questions?

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Okay, having

         19  caught my breath, very briefly. By the way,

         20  Commissioner, to follow up on Council Member James's

         21  point, we really do want to work with you, and I

         22  know our lawyers want to work with your lawyers to

         23  satisfy any technical legal concern. From what I'm

         24  hearing from your testimony is we're not divergent

         25  when it comes to policy, and oddly the research, and
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          2  even the force of your testimony, indicates that

          3  there should be a way to incorporate whether it's

          4  eminent domain or right of first refusal, standard

          5  procedures, to avoid legal challenge.

          6                 So, if you would forward to us any

          7  particular clauses which you have, or your lawyers

          8  have questions about or issues on, we will review

          9  that, as well as your entire testimony.

         10                 I would note, this bill is modeled on

         11  laws existing throughout the country. Have you

         12  looked at the other right of first refusal laws in

         13  other jurisdictions?

         14                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: Absolutely. Jim

         15  Growe (phonetic), who is someone I've known for many

         16  years, we had a long discussion about this, my

         17  lawyers have spoken to him. The fundamental issue

         18  here is that the law in the State of New York is

         19  different from other places, where other bills with

         20  the similar intent were passed.

         21                 The other thing I would point out,

         22  Council member, is our lawyers have had significant

         23  discussions, both with your office and a number of

         24  groups who are represented here today that have been

         25  interested in this bill, and so those discussions
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          2  have happened. We did not see any changes reflected

          3  in this bill on the fundamental issues that we

          4  raise, and, so, we've tried to be accommodating on

          5  that. We've tried to work with you, tried to make

          6  suggestions about how the bill might be modified,

          7  and those have not been incorporated in the version

          8  that we were given just a week ago after extensive

          9  time and discussion.

         10                 So, I guess I would be less

         11  optimistic than you would that these legal issues

         12  can be resolved, given that we've spent months on

         13  this and we have not seen any of those suggested

         14  changes reflected in the bill.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: We will take

         16  another look. As you know, we did try to set up a

         17  meeting with your office prior to this hearing, but

         18  for very understandable reasons schedules did not

         19  allow that. And so we did agree we'd follow up.

         20                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: Council Member

         21  we provided comments on this bill months and months

         22  ago, and we had been told that we would get a copy

         23  of it. We only received a copy of the bill, the

         24  revised bill, last Monday. And, so, it did not give

         25  us adequate time to review it, much less sit down
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          2  and have a meeting with you before --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Well, we could

          4  have possibly met before the revised bill. But as an

          5  aside, I'm not criticizing. We all understand that,

          6  you know, City government, the Council and the

          7  Executive Order are doing a lot, and, so, that's why

          8  we're not taking a vote here. And we will have the

          9  opportunity, you know, to follow up. And we will

         10  look at those points that you have raised.

         11                 But going back to my question, I

         12  gather then, having looked at these other bills that

         13  exist in California, Rhode Island, Maine, Illinois,

         14  Maryland, Denver, San Francisco, and Portland and

         15  maybe elsewhere, that from the federal standpoint,

         16  since you just said the reason we can't have similar

         17  bills relates to New York State law, from the

         18  federal standpoint, we should be able to adopt some

         19  kind of right of first refusal along the lines

         20  adopted elsewhere, if we either pass muster with

         21  existing New York State, New York State law, or if

         22  we have to amend or change the law to allow such

         23  bills; is that correct?

         24                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: The primary

         25  legal issue is around the State eminent domain.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: The State.

          3                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: We have also

          4  identified a number of provisions, some of which

          5  were added to this new version of the bill, that

          6  raised concerns about federal statutes and

          7  constitutional issues as well. And as I offered to

          8  Councilwoman James, we'd be happy to share the

          9  specifics of those with you.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Okay. Then we

         11  will certainly look at the primary issue of State

         12  and eminent domain, and we will be hearing testimony

         13  on that issue later on in this hearing. And so I

         14  will move on.

         15                 Your testimony referred to your

         16  proposal to the State that Mitchell-Lama bills --

         17  Mitchell-Lama development is not currently covered

         18  by rent stabilization, be added to rent

         19  stabilization; is that correct?

         20                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: That's correct.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Because you

         22  referred to it to the regulation bill, you're

         23  talking about rent stabilization?

         24                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: Yes.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Did you
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          2  propose any compensation or benefits to the owners

          3  to make up for the loss of economic value from their

          4  inability to charge market or luxury rents?

          5                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: Yes.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: You did. And

          7  what is the nature of that?

          8                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: They were tax

          9  benefits associated with the bill.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Did those tax

         11  benefits, were they geared to equal the diminution

         12  of the economic value as a result of the

         13  applicability of rent stabilization?

         14                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: Yes.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: You testified

         16  -- historically, when we -- well, just let me move

         17  on so I could wrap up.

         18                 The two funds you testified, I

         19  believe they are two, but the funds you testified

         20  to, which will go for preservation and creation, are

         21  you confident that you are going to be able to put

         22  in sufficient funds, or sufficient benefits from the

         23  City public sector, to allow the preservation of

         24  non-distressed buildings, such as what we see and

         25  what happened successfully at West Village, and did
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          2  not happen at IPN, Independence Plaza North, for

          3  similar, non-distressed Mitchell-Lama, Project-Based

          4  Section 8 or the like, all over the City? Are we

          5  going to be able to create with public resources

          6  alone a fund large enough to do that?

          7                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: I would say we

          8  could create a fund that will be able to meet the

          9  challenges of those buildings as well.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: As affordable

         11  --

         12                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: That's correct.

         13                 One of the things that we are focused

         14  on is leveraging new partnerships, not just using

         15  City funds, and in that particular case, we are

         16  trying to use not only City funds, but also raise

         17  funding for foundations and other mission-oriented

         18  organizations, or investors that would allow us to

         19  grow the size of the fund beyond what we could do

         20  with City funds alone. So, it's a combination of

         21  those two that makes the difference.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Do you think

         23  it could help in some cases leverage non-City funds,

         24  whether they're from the for-profit private sector

         25  of non-for-profit private sector, if we were able to
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          2  overcome the legal hurdles one way or the other and

          3  implement some version of 186 wherein there's a

          4  system in ties process for every expiring building

          5  which gives notice and opportunity to buy-out from

          6  their owners, in approach potential lending or

          7  granting institutions; don't you think if we could

          8  overcome the legal hurdles, that some law, as

          9  adopted in other states, would help leverage to some

         10  degree private funds?

         11                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: We are

         12  confident that we can leverage the City and the

         13  foundation funds, which could total about $50

         14  million, with 150 to 200 million dollars of bank

         15  capital to be able to do that.

         16                 We are pursuing that avenue, whatever

         17  the fate of this bill.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: I'm glad to

         19  hear that.

         20                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: And we believe

         21  that that will be adequate to do it.

         22                 What we also are pursuing, as I said

         23  earlier, ways to enhance technical assistance and

         24  other help to residents and other

         25  preservation-oriented purchasers to purchase their
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          2  buildings.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Well, Madam

          4  Chair, it seems clear, and I notice you didn't deny

          5  that it would be helpful if you had a law which

          6  systematized the right of first refusal or first

          7  option to purchase, and I could understand why you

          8  would not deny that, because in our meetings with

          9  the private sector, they kind of got it. They

         10  understood that if there was a systematized approach

         11  throughout the City, it would generate a market, it

         12  would generate interest, it would generate a

         13  movement and opportunity.

         14                 And, Commissioner, as much as I hate

         15  to say it, there will be future HPD commissioners

         16  and which might not take the same degree of interest

         17  as you are in this.

         18                 So, that is why, Madam Chair, the

         19  legal avenue and the financial avenue needs to go

         20  together, in order to have the most effective

         21  preservation, a policy, we need to do both. As the

         22  Commissioner said, and as we have said from the

         23  very, very beginning before the Commissioner's

         24  testimony, we need to establish this fund and this

         25  technical assistance, but we also need to have a
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          2  legal right to assure that the fund will be applied

          3  and will be availed.

          4                 And if we do it in a way which

          5  compensates owners, you know, we have in this

          6  history of New York State, have established rent

          7  regulations without providing compensation to

          8  owners, and here we are doing it in a way which does

          9  provide full compensation for owners.

         10                 Hence, my frustration, and opposition

         11  to a win win win approach attempt, and I hope in the

         12  end of the day we'll be able to overcome, and am

         13  confident we'll be able to overcome legal hurdles,

         14  and I hope we'll be able to get together on the

         15  policy and make this happen.

         16                 Madam Chair, I'm concluded for this

         17  round, unless the Commissioner wants to add anything

         18  more.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Okay. We have

         20  tons of folks that want to testify, and as I always

         21  say at the end of my hearing, I always feel bad for

         22  these folks, because those of us that are here on

         23  the Committee get to chat back and forth for hours

         24  and hours and then the folks that are here to

         25  testify don't get a chance to testify.
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          2                 And I'm sure you would like a lot of

          3  these people to testify.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Absolutely.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Commissioner,

          6  and Joe, once again we thank you.

          7                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: Thank you very

          8  much.

          9                 We will be putting on a three-minute

         10  clock so that we can accommodate all of those that

         11  wish to, well, I don't know if we'll do all of you,

         12  but most of you.

         13                 Nancy Rosenbloom, Louise Sanchez. Are

         14  you here? Please come forward, sit at the table, and

         15  I'm going to name the next three people that will be

         16  testifying so that you're ready to come forward when

         17  I call you.  Kathryn Sabbeth, Bartolo Rios and Jon

         18  Alvarez.

         19                 Are we ready in the back with the

         20  clock? Who is testifying first? Hello. If you're

         21  off, you're on.

         22                 MS. ROSENBLOOM: Good morning, and

         23  thank you for the opportunity to testify before the

         24  Housing and Buildings Committee on the vital issue

         25  of preserving affordable housing in New York City.
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          2  And in favor of the passage of Intro. 186-A. I'm

          3  Nancy Rosenbloom, a supervising attorney at The

          4  Legal Aid Society. Our civil program is the largest

          5  provider of free legal services to poor people in

          6  New York City. We operate eight neighborhood offices

          7  serving all five boroughs of the City. We also

          8  deliver comprehensive Citywide legal assistance

          9  through a number of special projects.

         10                 Legal Aid provides free legal

         11  representation in more than 25,000 individual cases

         12  annually to poor New Yorkers who need but cannot

         13  afford an attorney.

         14                 Our testimony in support of this bill

         15  are joined by the legal support unit of Legal

         16  Services for New York City. Legal Services for New

         17  York City provides free legal services in civil

         18  matters in 17 neighborhood offices around the City

         19  and represents thousands of low-income tenants

         20  annually in disputes involving tenants' rights to

         21  remain in their homes.

         22                 I've submitted written testimony on

         23  why this bill is urgently important as an effort to

         24  preserve affordable housing and will not spend too

         25  much of the Committee's time reading that testimony.
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          2  I'd like us all to be available to answer questions,

          3  particularly about some of the legal questions

          4  regarding the bill which Commissioner Donovan

          5  raised.

          6                 I will say, however, at the outset

          7  there are many tenants still outside who, because of

          8  the size of this room, were not allowed to come in,

          9  so I'd like to note just for the record, that as we

         10  had hundreds of tenants here at the first hearing in

         11  October, there are many, many tenants here today, as

         12  well. So, I'd like to note that support.

         13                 Also, I would like to note that Legal

         14  Aid and a large number of tenants and tenant groups

         15  did attempt to meet with Commissioner O'Donovan, you

         16  have a letter that we wrote about that, between

         17  April 28th, just before the amended bill was about

         18  to come out, and now, we wanted to get the details

         19  about the Commissioner's concerns about this bill,

         20  and look forward to getting those details in

         21  response to the Council member's questions,

         22  particularly with regard to exactly which provisions

         23  the Commissioner feels might run afoul of federal

         24  law.

         25                 We do look forward to that, and I
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          2  hope we can work with Commissioner Donovan as HPD

          3  has made significant efforts toward the preservation

          4  of affordable housing in New York City, and we hope

          5  they will continue to do so.

          6                 I will let my colleagues testify and

          7  then we are happy to take questions.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Next.

          9                 MS. CHRISTOPHER: Good afternoon. My

         10  name is almost that anyway. My name is Marie

         11  Christopher. I am the President of the Tenant

         12  Association at 210 Stanton Street, a 171-unit-based

         13  Project-Based Section 8.

         14                 Thank you for this opportunity to

         15  testify before the Committee today in support of

         16  this very important legislation.

         17                 I am here today to speak on behalf of

         18  a wide coalition of tenant associations and

         19  non-for-profit groups that have been working

         20  together to support the Tenant Empowerment Act. We

         21  believe that it is very important that the Council

         22  pass the Tenant Empowerment Act as quickly as

         23  possible.

         24                 Since the first hearing on this bill

         25  on October 28th, the contracts for 12,560 units have
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          2  gone up for expiration.

          3                 As contracts expire, units are at

          4  risk of losing their affordability through opt-out

          5  and buy-out. Of these thousands of units at risk, we

          6  have lost thousands of units in the last six months,

          7  such as 3333 Broadway, Lands End 1 and Metro North.

          8  This bill would significantly change the amount of

          9  affordable housing loss through contract expiration.

         10  It will give tenants a tool to encourage landlords

         11  to stay in the program that doesn't currently exist.

         12                 The Tenants Empowerment Act will

         13  bring landlords to the table with tenants to

         14  preserve affordable housing, if the owner still

         15  wishes to end the contract. Tenants and

         16  tenant-endorsed preservation purchasers would be

         17  able to exercise a right to make an offer to

         18  purchase the property at a fair price determined

         19  through appraisals.

         20                 Through the initiative of Alan Gerson

         21  and the support and leadership of Speaker Gifford

         22  Miller.

         23                 The City Council has taken a giant

         24  step towards preserving New York City's affordable

         25  housing. Now let's pass Intro. 186.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

          3  Next.

          4                 MS. SANCHEZ: Good afternoon. I'm

          5  Louise Sanchez. I'm the co-chair of the

          6  Mitchell-Lama Residence Coalition, which is a

          7  statewide advocacy organization for both

          8  Mitchell-Lama rentals and co-ops.

          9                 I was trying to figure out this

         10  morning how many hearings I've come to to testify on

         11  behalf of affordable housing, the preservation of

         12  it, the maintainers of it. Forgive me, maybe

         13  increasing it, let's use that dirty term, of

         14  bringing more housing into the City.

         15                 And I also have the feeling that I'm

         16  getting a little bit too old for this and tired of

         17  it. I'm tired of it because all I see are more and

         18  more buildings, growing out of the program, more and

         19  more tenants at risk, more and more tenants who are

         20  told be cool, help is on the way. I have sat at

         21  these hearings for too long now and I'm fed up with

         22  it. I really am.

         23                 But I will contain myself, and my

         24  rage, to say to you that if you do not pass this

         25  bill, you are going to be confronted with a much

                                                            83

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  more dangerous situation in light of national

          3  legislation that is now before congress.

          4                 I don't know how many of you have

          5  heard about the Alid Bill (phonetic). Senator Alid

          6  from Colorado, and his republican counterpart in

          7  California, who presented a senate bill and a

          8  congressional bill which is going to manifestly

          9  change affordable housing in New York, by virtue of

         10  the fact that what tenants look to, as one of the

         11  prime tools to keep affordable housing here enhanced

         12  vouchers, is going to change dramatically.

         13                 The proposal in the new legislation

         14  is enhanced vouchers for one year only. And after

         15  that the tenant will get a regular Section 8

         16  voucher, there is income targeting in this new bill

         17  that will dramatically change who is eligible, okay?

         18  So, if you think you have a problem now, if you

         19  don't begin to seriously address and pull in every

         20  tenant advocate whose main concern is to preserve

         21  and maintain and keep affordable housing at a place

         22  for them to live within the City, you're not going

         23  to have to worry about an election next year because

         24  none of us are going to be here to vote for you or

         25  against you, we will be driven out of the City,
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          2  okay? We're not the enemy. And I don't mean to leave

          3  you the impression that you're the enemy, but

          4  sometimes you get so wrapped up in crossing every T

          5  and dotting every I that you do nothing. And I think

          6  that we are entitled to little bits of something

          7  along the way.

          8                 You know, everybody needs some kind

          9  of amount of success to keep them in the struggle.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Will you wind

         11  up, please, because your time is up.

         12                 MS. SANCHEZ: Okay. Give us our modest

         13  successes.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: That's a very

         15  good, very good ending.

         16                 No time for applause. We have to move

         17  on.

         18                 Council Member Fidler has a question.

         19  Oh, by the way, we've been joined by Council Member

         20  Diana Reyna. I'm sorry.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Some of the

         22  testimony was a little tough to follow, but I think

         23  if I -- I don't mean yours, I mean the

         24  Commissioners', but I don't think I've heard anyone

         25  here today speak against the concept if legal of
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          2  186-A. And so for me the really sole question that

          3  I'm really interested in getting an answer to is to

          4  the Commissioner's legal objection. Because, quite

          5  frankly, the process of dotting i's and crossing t's

          6  means that we don't pass a piece of legislation that

          7  the Commissioner says will be struck down by the

          8  courts in three hours after we do it, which, you

          9  know, meaning that we can all walk out of here

         10  patting ourselves on the back, and then blame

         11  somebody else for having done nothing.

         12                 So, my question is for Ms.

         13  Rosenbloom. Do you have a response to the eminent

         14  domain argument that the Commissioner has raised? Is

         15  he right? And if he's not right, why not?

         16                 MS. ROSENBLOOM: Thank you for your

         17  question, Council Member Fidler.

         18                 Just let me say that I was a bit

         19  surprised to hear after all this time talking about

         20  this bill, that HPD may have federal concerns. I do

         21  look forward to finding out what specifically those

         22  are because the only one I can think of is LIHPRHOA,

         23  the Low Income Housing Preservation and Resident

         24  Home Ownership Act, and there are many, many strong

         25  reasons why this legislation would not run afoul of
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          2  that federal statute.

          3                 So, we do look forward to continuing

          4  dialogue with HPD in an attempt to resolve any of

          5  those federal problems.

          6                 As to eminent domain, there are two

          7  things in the bill that very importantly, while

          8  tenants might not like at least one of them, we

          9  believe make it very strong in the face of the

         10  challenge under the State eminent domain procedures

         11  law.

         12                 The first is that the drafters of

         13  this legislation, the Council, have written in very

         14  wisely that if any sale of a building or a

         15  development pursuant to this law is found to be

         16  eminent domain, then the procedures of the eminent

         17  domain law must apply.

         18                 So, the premise of this bill, which

         19  is my second point, is that these are not takings

         20  without just compensation. In fact, because owners

         21  will get a market value for their property, this is

         22  the part that tenants might not like, because

         23  tenants would have to match that price, because

         24  owners will get a market value, they are not being

         25  deprived of their property, their property is not
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          2  being taken, and we feel after much research, that

          3  this bill would be very strong on an argument that,

          4  in fact, these sales, as regulated by this bill,

          5  because of the market value and appraisal

          6  provisions, would not run afoul, would not even be

          7  eminent domain.

          8                 If, however, somebody determined that

          9  a particular purchase or even all purchases under

         10  this law were eminent domain, then the bill itself

         11  provides that the procedures of the State eminent

         12  domain law must apply.

         13                 So, that in summary is why it seems

         14  to us that this bill is going to withstand such a

         15  challenge.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Well, that

         17  certainly is a logical answer to me. Council Member

         18  Jackson had asked the questions of the Commissioner

         19  that I wanted to. I am extremely interested in

         20  knowing what the give and take with the

         21  Administration is on that issue. Because even though

         22  the Commissioner repeatedly refused to answer

         23  Council Member Gerson's hypothetical, would you be

         24  for it? I didn't hear him at any point say, no, he

         25  wouldn't. Maybe I didn't hear him say yes either,
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          2  but I didn't hear him say no.

          3                 So, I would be very interested in

          4  knowing what the final position of the

          5  Administration is. I imagine Council Member Gerson

          6  with his law degree will be sitting at the table as

          7  well, and maybe we can get beyond the legal mumbo

          8  jumbo and get to the substance.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: I would like

         11  to take Council Member Fidler to the table with me

         12  as my esteemed counsel, along with other counsels

         13  that we have.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Councilwoman

         15  James.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: If you take

         17  Council Member Fidler to the table, it's going to

         18  cost you.

         19                 First let me say as a former Legal

         20  Aid attorney, it's just wonderful to see you sitting

         21  here fighting the good fight, and I obviously

         22  support the Legal Aid Society and you are a woman

         23  after my own heart and we are kindred spirits. And

         24  to my good friend, who has been at this table and up

         25  in Albany fighting forever and ever and ever, God
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          2  bless you, and don't ever contain yourself. Don't

          3  ever contain yourself, even if you have to stand up

          4  alone, because what you do is standing up for the

          5  little people and often times we don't see enough of

          6  the little people and continue to have that passion,

          7  that fire in your stomach and that fire in your

          8  belly, I hope it never goes out. Because if not, I'm

          9  going to come out to New York where you live, I know

         10  where you live, I'll come and find you, and let me

         11  just say God bless you, and continue to keep the

         12  good fight.

         13                 I just wanted to continue the

         14  discussion with, follow-up the discussion, the

         15  question that Councilman Fidler had raised. They

         16  also talked about, in addition to eminent domain,

         17  they talked about the Supremacy Clause and the

         18  Contract Clause, any legal advice on how that's

         19  going to pass constitutional muster?

         20                 MS. ROSENBLOOM: Once again,

         21  Commissioner Donovan, there had been earlier

         22  discussions in which the federal statute, the Low

         23  Income Housing Statute, I referred to, was raised,

         24  and I can go into the reasons why the, rather arcane

         25  reasons why that probably would not pose a problem.
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          2                 The Supremacy Clause of the

          3  Constitution of the United States and the Contracts

          4  Clause provisions, which might prohibit certain

          5  things from happening, but, frankly, for the life of

          6  me, I can't imagine which provisions of this bill

          7  might run afoul of the clauses of our Constitution.

          8  When HPD tells this Committee which provisions those

          9  are, we would certainly be happy to consult and

         10  discuss and research as much as need be to try and

         11  address HPD's concerns, perhaps with minor tinkering

         12  with the bill. I just can't answer because I don't

         13  know what they are and we've looked high and low to

         14  look for flaws.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And, again, if

         16  they can take private property for the New Jersey

         17  Nets, certainly we can take private property for the

         18  purposes of serving affordable housing for residents

         19  of the City of New York. That's the bottom line.

         20  It's the bottom line, it's the bottom line.

         21                 So, thank you. And, again, I'm here,

         22  I'm available, and I, too, am an attorney, but I

         23  don't have experience. I'm going to defer to

         24  Councilman Fidler, but I do excellent research.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: You're part of
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          2  the law firm we've created here.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Thank you.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Madam Chair?

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Council

          6  Member Gerson.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Ms.

          8  Rosenbloom, just on the policy side, what about the

          9  Commissioner's point that if we establish the fund,

         10  an adequate fund, we don't need the law?

         11                 I mean, could you from your

         12  experience answer that? Is a law necessary if we

         13  have an adequate fund?

         14                 MS. ROSENBLOOM: Council Member

         15  Gerson, I'm sure that others who testify, including

         16  preservation purchaser groups will be able to

         17  elaborate further, but the bottom line is this, no

         18  matter how much of a fund there is, if an owner can

         19  convert out of a subsidized program and sell to

         20  whomever he or she wants, then tenants are not going

         21  to be in control of their buildings and there will

         22  be no guarantee of continued affordability.

         23                 So, unless, you don't need that fund

         24  to help support tenants and not-for-profits and

         25  others whom they work with, unless they are going to
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          2  have the opportunity to purchase their building at

          3  market value.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Here's the

          5  point, and here I'm playing devil's advocate, and I

          6  wanted to, I think it's important to get your

          7  responses on the record. His point was that if we

          8  have an adequate fund that allows tenants to match

          9  or slightly exceed the market value or a counter

         10  offer, then any owner is going to want to sell to

         11  the highest bidder, including a tenant association.

         12  So, why do we need the law? Why don't we just get

         13  the fund and get them enough resources to make the

         14  purchase?

         15                 MS. ROSENBLOOM: Unfortunately, many

         16  of the buildings we're talking about are

         17  neighborhoods that are rapidly gentrifying, which

         18  causes some perspective purchasers to make

         19  speculative purchases that are way over the current

         20  market value of those buildings and are far over the

         21  amount that the building could sustain if the

         22  tenants in place remain at affordable rents.

         23                 So, you need this bill to prevent

         24  that from happening. I don't think Commissioner

         25  Donovan's fund, even if it reached the $250 million,
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          2  which would be a wonderful help in the project, and

          3  I don't want to underestimate the importance of that

          4  fund, even if that fund built up to that level, it

          5  would not allow tenants to match the sky-high prices

          6  that have been in some cases and will continue to be

          7  offered for these buildings.

          8                 Basically what I'm saying is, in case

          9  it's not clear to anybody, some people, not

         10  responsible purchasers, but some other people out

         11  there might buy a building, cause the conditions to

         12  deteriorate and try and get rid of the tenants who

         13  are paying affordable rates in order to gentrify,

         14  demolish, rebuild or rent at the highest possible

         15  speculative level.

         16                 This bill guarantees owners who are

         17  selling and wanting to convert out of a program, a

         18  fair price, a market price. Frankly, my clients

         19  would like it to be a lower price, but in order to

         20  make the bills sustainable, it's got to be a market

         21  price.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Finally, from

         23  you experience, in addition to that point, from your

         24  experience, do you think having a legal right might

         25  help leverage or generate interest on the part of
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          2  the private sector, either not-for-profit or the

          3  for-profit private sector, if there is a

          4  systematized opportunity put in place.

          5                 MS. ROSENBLOOM: Absolutely. In New

          6  York we're very lucky to have a number of affordable

          7  housing developers, preservation purchasers,

          8  community organizations, banks and others, who would

          9  like to help this effort and we should take the most

         10  advantage that we can of the resource, this bill

         11  would certainly be a great help.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Okay, thank

         13  you very much.

         14                 When I think of the imperative, I

         15  just think of those horrible situations with the

         16  subdivided apartments recently involved with fires

         17  and reflecting how what a desperate situation we are

         18  in this City and we have to do everything, including

         19  this bill and everything that the Commissioner

         20  testified to. Thank you all very, very much.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Okay, thank

         22  you.

         23                 Next we will be hearing from Kathryn

         24  Sabbeth, Bartolo Rios and Jon Alvarez.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Madam Chair,
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          2  as these witnesses take their seat, I would be

          3  remiss if I, too, did not acknowledge Maria

          4  Christopher and Louise Sanchez's stellar work in

          5  their fights for housing.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Okay,

          7  whichever one of you wants to start first may.

          8                 MR. ALVAREZ: Okay, I'll start first.

          9  Jon Alvarez, Neighbors Helping Neighbors.

         10                 Chairperson Provenzano, members of

         11  the Council and my colleagues, thank you for hearing

         12  my testimony in support of Intro. 186. My name is

         13  Jon Alvarez. I'm the tenant organizer for Neighbors

         14  Helping Neighbors, an organization based in Sunset

         15  Park in Brooklyn.

         16                 Our initiative is to enable people

         17  with low or moderate incomes to build assets for

         18  their families and Brooklyn communities, by

         19  securing, improving and owning their homes and

         20  businesses.

         21                 NHN, Neighbors Helping Neighbors, is

         22  actively working to preserve homes that have been

         23  affordable for a generation, thanks to federal

         24  subsidies called Project-Based Section 8.

         25                 One of several Section 8 properties
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          2  I'm working with is Sixth Avenue Rehab 2, and the

          3  other colleagues at this table are working with the

          4  same property.

          5                 Over the course of this past year the

          6  tenants of this building have formed a tenant

          7  association, they've joined forces with NHN and

          8  tenants and neighbors, they've enlisted south brook

          9  and legal services as a legal advocate and they've

         10  endorsed a non-profit developer to act as their

         11  preservation purchaser.

         12                 They have taken their owner to court,

         13  they won a year-long extension of their Section 8

         14  contracts, and they campaign for repairs in their

         15  building.

         16                 Through thick and thin, our coalition

         17  of tenants and non-profits and attorneys have stuck

         18  together. Yet, despite this great example of

         19  partnership, the building itself and the tenants in

         20  it are in almost the exact same place as they were

         21  before we started organizing.

         22                 Yes, the owner has given them

         23  repairs, but it's loose patchwork that falls apart

         24  again in six months.

         25                 Sure, the properties, you know,
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          2  Section 8 contract got renewed, but only for one

          3  single year. If the owner has it his way, and he

          4  will if Intro. 186 passes -- does not pass, if

          5  Intro. 186 does not pass he will opt out of his

          6  Section 8 contract, and this building will go to

          7  market rent, and it will remain in just as bad shape

          8  as it was before.

          9                 But it doesn't have to be this way.

         10  If we pass Intro. 186, our preservation purchaser,

         11  who we already have lined up, will have the ability

         12  to make a purchase offer to the owner, will have the

         13  ability to make a purchase offer to the owner. As

         14  long as the offer amount is approved by HPD

         15  appraisal, the owner will have to accept it or

         16  remain in the Project-Based Section 8 contract.

         17                 Either way the building would remain

         18  affordable for years to come, and the tenants would

         19  not have to deal with a shaky future of the voucher

         20  system and with a severe lack of repairs, which

         21  Bartolo Rios, our tenant leader, is going to talk

         22  about in a moment.

         23                 And this property is only one of 45

         24  buildings in the neighborhood of Sunset Park that

         25  has the same owner.
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          2                 The other building Section 8

          3  contracts are up for expiration soon. 45 buildings

          4  in this neighborhood are up for expiration. We feel

          5  that this is only the first trickle of a future wave

          6  of opt-outs that would destroy the affordability of

          7  our neighborhood.

          8                 Therefore, I join with the tenants of

          9  Sixth Avenue Rehab 2 and with the tens of thousands

         10  of tenants around the City who share the same issue,

         11  and ask you to support the passage of Intro. 186.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

         13  Who is next?

         14                 MS. SABBETH:  Good morning. Thank you

         15  for your time. My name is Kathryn Sabbeth.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Pull the mic

         17  a little closer.

         18                 MS. SABBETH: Like this? All right.

         19  Thank you.

         20                 My name is Kathryn Sabbeth. I'm a

         21  staff attorney at South Brooklyn Legal Services. I

         22  became aware of Sixth Avenue Rehab 2 when Jonathan

         23  Alvarez contacted my office. This is a building in

         24  Sunset Park. It's just on the south side of Sunset

         25  Park itself. Facing the park. It's a very nice
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          2  location.

          3                 Jonathan Alvarez contacted our office

          4  after learning that the owner of the building

          5  intended to opt out of the Section 8 program and had

          6  not given any notice to the tenants.

          7                 This was brought to the attention of

          8  HUD and to the owner's attention as well.

          9                 The owner insisted that the notice

         10  had been sent, and without Intro. 186 there is no

         11  proof of mailing required, so it became the tenant's

         12  word against the owners, and HUD indicated that the

         13  opt out would go forward as planned.

         14                 My office then had to file a lawsuit

         15  to enforce the federal notice requirement. We were

         16  successful in that capacity. We did delay the

         17  opt-out and we did compel the owner to conduct some

         18  significant repairs.

         19                 However, what I'd really like to be

         20  able to do is help the tenants to maintain

         21  affordable decent housing for the long term.

         22                 The current laws really do not

         23  provide the tools for that.

         24                 Without Intro. 186, neither the City

         25  nor the tenants have the capacity to prevent the
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          2  owner from ending the Project-Based Section 8

          3  contract. When the owner opts out of the Section 8

          4  contract this fall, the tenant should receive

          5  vouchers. But as you know well, the vouchers are

          6  quite vulnerable to congressional cuts.

          7                 If ever the vouchers were not

          8  available, the tenants would have to pay the full

          9  rents on their own.

         10                 Most of the tenants in this

         11  particular building, and one of the reasons I'm

         12  speaking to you today is to give you a picture of a

         13  particular building where this is going on. Most of

         14  the tenants in this building are elderly or they're

         15  disabled. They live on fixed incomes. We're talking

         16  about tenants whose income is about $650 and their

         17  full contract rent for the apartment is about $900.

         18                 Obviously, without any Section 8,

         19  these people would not be able to pay their rent and

         20  they would be evicted, possibly homeless.

         21                 Fortunately, an excellent non-profit

         22  developer has stepped in and agreed to purchase the

         23  property, preserve the federal subsidy, maintain the

         24  project as safe affordable housing. Currently, there

         25  is no obligation on the owner to accept or even to
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          2  consider an offer by this non-profit developer. Even

          3  if the developer is offering market rate, which they

          4  are planning to do.

          5                 But Intro. 186 would change that, of

          6  course, according to tenants and the preservation

          7  purchasers a right of first refusal and an

          8  opportunity to purchase.

          9                 In this scenario, the City would of

         10  course benefit from the preservation of quality,

         11  affordable sub-housing in this rapidly changing

         12  neighborhood. The federal subsidy would remain in

         13  place. The owner would still receive market rate for

         14  the property, and the tenants would be able to

         15  remain in their homes in the past two decades.

         16                 I urge you to pass Intro. 186.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Good

         18  explanation.

         19                 MR. RIOS: Good afternoon, Council

         20  Members. My name is Bartolo Rios. I'm a tenant

         21  representative of the Sixth Avenue Rebab 2 Tenant

         22  Association.

         23                 And I'd like to start off by

         24  explaining my situation at my building.

         25                 I live in Sunset Park, as Kathryn and
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          2  Jon have told, said today. I have lived in my

          3  apartment for 22 years. I lived there with my mother

          4  and my two nephews, and we have, actually we have

          5  deplorable conditions at 602.

          6                 The reason I'm here is to voice my

          7  support for Intro. 186.

          8                 We would like to stay in our

          9  apartments, you know, for as long as we possibly

         10  can. We want to live there basically with decent

         11  conditions. Also, we want the owners to have our

         12  repairs done on time, which Ms. Sabbeth, she

         13  mentioned before that, the owners have, how would I

         14  say this? Kept the conditions of the building

         15  deteriorating, after all of these years, and most

         16  recent, how would I say this, how recent complaint

         17  against the owners is the boilers. Mostly during the

         18  wintertime, when less than few degrees outside, the

         19  boilers don't give enough heat in all the

         20  apartments. This is affecting people that have

         21  asthma, and due to the cold and leaking, air,

         22  through the window system, the apartments get cold

         23  and people with asthma, it makes the air

         24  conditioning worse. And I've heard from several

         25  tenants in my building, that due to inefficient
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          2  heat, they have to use portable heaters, in some

          3  cases two or three heaters the same time, just to

          4  heat up their apartment, because of their boiler

          5  situation, and that's the main problem we have.

          6                 Also, I want to mention, the owner

          7  wants to opt out a Section 8 contract, and Kathryn

          8  Sabbeth mentioned that we took them to court, and

          9  because they didn't give us the one-year notice

         10  where they were supposed to. They were supposed to

         11  give us a one-year opt-out notice before October

         12  31st, and we have not received it. That's one of the

         13  reasons I'm here also today.

         14                 Basically we're powerless in this

         15  situation, Council members, and we urge you to pass

         16  Intro. 186 for the benefit of my tenants 602 44th

         17  Street at the Sixth Avenue Rehab Tenants

         18  Association.

         19                 I would like to conclude by saying

         20  that all of the tenants in my buildings would need

         21  fair living conditions, and basically I'd say for

         22  the good of the community to please pass Intro. 186.

         23  Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you. Do

         25  we have any questions?
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          2                 Thank you all.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Thank you

          4  very, very much for a compelling case.

          5                 MR. RIOS: Thank you very much.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Is Richard

          7  Bearak here from the Borough President? He is? Do

          8  you want to come up? And Lee Chong from Borough

          9  President Field's office.

         10                 We had someone from Marty O'Connor's

         11  office, but they gave up. Yes, they did.

         12                 Hi, Lee. Do you want to start? Are

         13  you off or you're on?

         14                 MS. CHONG: I'm on.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Okay.

         16                 MS. CHONG: Good afternoon. I didn't

         17  want to wear the neck brace, but I couldn't keep it

         18  off much longer with the pain.

         19                 I'm going to amend mine since it's

         20  now afternoon. Good afternoon, Chairperson

         21  Provenzano, and members of the Housing and Buildings

         22  Committee. My name is Lee Chong and I am here to

         23  read the testimony of Manhattan Borough President C.

         24  Virginia Fields, in support of Intro. 186-A.

         25                 I commend the members of the

                                                            105

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  Manhattan Delegation, especially Council Member Alan

          3  Gerson, for bringing to life the serious need to

          4  preserve existing affordable housing.

          5                 As we all know, preservation of

          6  affordable housing, is less costly than the creation

          7  of new affordable housing. This Administration seems

          8  to have lost sight of that simply monetary fact.

          9  Recognizing the need to preserve affordable housing,

         10  in January 1999, my office formed the Mitchell-Lama

         11  Task Force. It has been working arduously to save

         12  affordable housing through its lobbying efforts, as

         13  well as its outreach and education efforts to the

         14  many Mitchell-Lama developments throughout the five

         15  boroughs.

         16                 Since 1986, the City has lost 28,328

         17  units of Mitchell-Lama Housing through opt-outs.

         18                 Only two have become tenant-owned

         19  cooperatives. Hugh Grant Gardens and Clover Leaf

         20  Gardens in the Bronx.

         21                 Since there was no process in place

         22  for tenant ownership, this came about through a HUD

         23  foreclosure proceeding and with the hard work of the

         24  tenants and a Citywide non-profit organization you

         25  have.
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          2                 What happened at Hugh Grant and

          3  Clover Leaf, should become the norm, not the

          4  exception. Intro. 186 will give tenant associations

          5  that opportunity to determine their destiny and at

          6  the same time preserve for the City of New York a

          7  fast shrinking stock of affordable housing.

          8                 Giving in-place residents the

          9  opportunity to purchase their apartments will go a

         10  long way in preserving the affordable housing stock.

         11                 However, I ask that in order to make

         12  this work we need to ensure these tenants that there

         13  will be the money available for them to purchase

         14  them at a price that they can afford to pay,

         15  otherwise, Intro. 186 will be but another bill that

         16  has no teeth to it.

         17                 In the face of all the potential

         18  opt-outs of Mitchell-Lama and Project-Based Section

         19  8 developments, there is a moral obligation on the

         20  part of this elective body to ensure that all

         21  residents of the City of New York are given a real

         22  opportunity to live in decent and affordable housing

         23  for as long as they so choose.

         24                 Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.
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          2                 MR. BEARAK: Good day, Madam Chair and

          3  fellow Council members. My name is Richard Bearak,

          4  Deputy Director for Planning Development. I'll be

          5  reading remarks of Brooklyn Borough President Marty

          6  Markowitz.

          7                 New York City and especially Brooklyn

          8  needs more affordable housing. Affordable, safe and

          9  decent is the key to the community stability.

         10                 The crisis of Mitchell-Lama and the

         11  Project-Based Section 8 building owners buying out

         12  and opting out of the Mitchell-Lama and Section 8

         13  programs are negatively impacting thousands of low,

         14  moderate income residents throughout New York City.

         15  We must act right now to put a stop to this

         16  disaster.

         17                 Project-Based Section 8 Mitchell-Lama

         18  rental and limited dividend housing are viable

         19  government-sponsored programs which help to sustain

         20  our City's housing stock.

         21                 The Mitchell-Lama program has been

         22  the most successful affordable rental and

         23  cooperative housing program ever at creating housing

         24  units for moderate and middle-income working

         25  families throughout the state.
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          2                 While Project-Based Section 8 housing

          3  continues to ensure that our low-income families

          4  have affordable and decent housing, I am therefore

          5  deeply concerned about the future of all of these

          6  important programs and the future of households who

          7  rely on these subsidized programs for many whom

          8  reside in Brooklyn.

          9                 Brooklyn stands to lose hundreds if

         10  not thousands of rental and cooperative housing

         11  units from the Mitchell-Lama program that are not

         12  subject to the rent stabilization law and will

         13  therefore not be protected once landlords buy-out.

         14                 Brooklyn's large Section 8 housing

         15  stock is also in danger with proposed federal budget

         16  cuts threatening the loss of thousands of vouchers

         17  for low-income households.

         18                 These affordable housing unit

         19  programs are now in danger of being eliminated

         20  completely.

         21                 Neither the City, State or federal

         22  government has developed a comprehensive plan to

         23  protect all of our low and moderate-income families,

         24  who are at risk of losing their homes.

         25                 Brooklyn residents are keenly aware
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          2  of what is at stake.

          3                 Indeed, on April 19th, 2005, my

          4  office, in conjunction with my Mitchell-Lama task

          5  force, tenants and neighbors and the Mitchell-Lama

          6  Resident Coalition, held Mitchell-Lama Day at

          7  Brooklyn Borough Hall.

          8                 For nearly four hours, over 300

          9  Brooklyn Mitchell-Lama residents listened to

         10  representatives of government agencies and advocates

         11  to discuss the Mitchell-Lama Program. From the

         12  event, I can tell you that the Brooklyn

         13  Mitchell-Lama residents are alarmed by the

         14  ever-increasing rate of which their developments are

         15  leaving the Mitchell-Lama program, for many, the

         16  lack of protections available to them, whenever

         17  their developments leave the Mitchell-Lama program.

         18                 City Council Intro. 186, the Tenant

         19  Empowerment Act, is an important and much-needed

         20  bill which will help to prevent the loss of

         21  additional affordable housing units.

         22                 If enacted, Intro. 186 would help to

         23  prevent landlords of either Mitchell-Lama or Section

         24  8 housing developments, from buying or opting out,

         25  which is a serious threat to tenants and the City's
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          2  limited supply of affordable housing.

          3                 The Tenant Empowerment Act would help

          4  more than 130,000 Project-Based Mitchell-Lama rental

          5  and limited dividend tenants in the City have the

          6  opportunity to continue to live in their homes.

          7                 If a landlord in any of these

          8  programs intends to remove a building from the

          9  City's affordable housing stock, it would allow

         10  tenants the right of first refusal, giving them

         11  opportunity to either purchase the building or

         12  designate a partner organization, such as a local

         13  City group or housing authority to buy the building.

         14                 It would also require the landlord to

         15  prevent notification at least 18 months so that

         16  residents have more warning if the landlords intend

         17  to leave the program.

         18                 Intro. 186 seeks to protect tenants

         19  who are at risk of losing their homes, while keeping

         20  community affordable.

         21                 I'll cut short the balance of my

         22  remarks, and I really appreciate the Council's

         23  interest in this issue.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you

         25  very much. Do we have any questions?
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Just a thank

          3  you to both Borough Presidents and your

          4  representatives.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you,

          6  both. Please give my best to Virginia.

          7                 Bernie Carr and Marolyn Davenport.

          8                 MR. CARR: Good afternoon.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Good

         10  afternoon.

         11                 MR. CARR: I'm Bernie Carr, Executive

         12  Director of New York State Association of Affordable

         13  Housing.

         14                 I want to thank Madam Chair and the

         15  Council members for letting me speak here today.

         16  NYSAFA is state-wide organization of developers and

         17  others involved in the financing and building of

         18  affordable housing.

         19                 The bulk of our 250 members

         20  throughout New York City's five boroughs are

         21  collectively responsible for most of the housing

         22  built at City, State or federal subsidies in New

         23  York City in recent years.

         24                 The Council has repeatedly

         25  demonstrated its commitment of affordable housing,
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          2  and acknowledges the challenges of affordable

          3  housing development. With this in mind, NYSAFA must

          4  respectfully express its opposition to Intro. 186.

          5  This bill will provide disincentives to future

          6  private investment in affordable housing, while

          7  saddling tenants associations that take advantage of

          8  it with overpriced aging buildings.

          9                 Despite some changes from the

         10  previous version, the bill still covers not just

         11  Mitchell-Lama projects and Section 8 but all

         12  buildings built and renovated with City assistance

         13  or federally insured mortgages.

         14                 In my previous testimony, I explained

         15  how changing the rules under which owners operate

         16  after they have made their investment would have

         17  serious negative impacts and is of questionable

         18  legality.

         19                 The bill could effectively prevent

         20  the sale of the building without any real tenant

         21  commitment to purchase. It could also force the sale

         22  of a building at a time that might be

         23  disadvantageous to the owner who took the risk of

         24  investing it in the first place.

         25                 Further, it would allow HPD to delay
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          2  private sales and extend regulatory agreements

          3  indefinitely.

          4                 This legislation could also limit

          5  future investment. Most affordable housing

          6  developments, especially those projects undertaken

          7  by not-for-profit groups, depend on the federal

          8  low-income housing tax credit, which grant

          9  substantial tax savings to investors in new and

         10  renovated housing.

         11                 These investors are willing to pay a

         12  premium price for projects in New York City.

         13  However, potential investors will be reluctant to

         14  accept the new level of uncertainty in their

         15  investment created by this legislation, and that

         16  reluctance will translate into lower price for tax

         17  credits.

         18                 This will mean less money,

         19  potentially a lot less money for affordable housing

         20  development.

         21                 And in return, all the tenants get is

         22  an opportunity to buy an aging building at a high

         23  price. The bill provides no resources to keep the

         24  buildings affordable. Instead, tenants will become

         25  responsible to cover all of the building's expenses,
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          2  including those associated with expiring tax

          3  abatement, while also making payments to cover their

          4  market rate purchase of the building.

          5                 A better alternative would be to

          6  provide incentives for investors to keep the

          7  projects affordable, by, for instance, extending

          8  property tax benefits in return for extending the

          9  regulatory agreement.

         10                 Perhaps, by the way, the extension of

         11  these benefits could be tied to tenant ownership.

         12  This was recently done for non-for-profit owners to

         13  the extension of 420-C benefits.

         14                 Also, increased funding should be

         15  made available for preservation programs, as has

         16  been discussed repeatedly previously to that.

         17                 Maintaining affordability is a

         18  primary concern for all of us. While tenant

         19  ownership can be a tool to achieve this, it is

         20  neither necessary nor sufficient. We continue to

         21  offer our assistance to the Council in developing

         22  methods to maintain affordability, while still

         23  encouraging future investment.

         24                 And very quickly, I do want to thank

         25  Councilman Gerson and his staff for their very
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          2  substantive conversations that they've had with us

          3  about our concerns about the bill.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

          5                 Marolyn.

          6                 MS. DAVENPORT: Good afternoon. I'm

          7  Marolyn Davenport, speaking on behalf of the Real

          8  Estate Board of New York, a trade association of

          9  over 9,000 owners, brokers and managers, and many

         10  developers of affordable housing.

         11                 I am speaking in opposition to this

         12  bill. We think it is poorly written and will be very

         13  difficult to interpret or to implement. We think it

         14  is unconstitutional, but most importantly, it will

         15  not preserve affordability.

         16                 Following the rules of federal, State

         17  and City programs developed over several decades,

         18  property owners created tens of thousands of units

         19  of affordable housing.

         20                 These rules carefully balanced the

         21  interests of property owners and residents. Changing

         22  the rules now would be a serious breach of faith and

         23  would dissuade investors from creating new units of

         24  affordable housing going forward.

         25                 Worse, this bill does not preserve
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          2  affordable housing. Just the opposite.

          3                 One of my members actually refers to

          4  it as the "landlord's bill in sheep's clothing."

          5  I'll explain why. He is purchasing a 200-unit

          6  Mitchell-Lama project for $40 million. If the

          7  tenants who are now paying $500 to $600 a month in

          8  rent were to match his offer, they would need to

          9  find $40 million in finance. At six percent this

         10  would cost them $2.4 million a year. Since their

         11  rents, like all Mitchell-Lama projects are

         12  structured to simply cover operating costs, they

         13  would have to raise rents an additional $1,000 a

         14  month simply for the purchase.

         15                 On top of that, real property taxes

         16  would be imposed, probably 700-800,000 dollars would

         17  be added to the rents. All of this is just to

         18  operate the building. The building needs a new

         19  boiler, new roof, new windows, other capital

         20  improvements.

         21                 When the tenants buy a property under

         22  this bill, they are converting it to a cooperative.

         23  In this case they would be giving up their rent

         24  stabilization rights to become responsible for

         25  covering all costs. In this instance they will pay a

                                                            117

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  minimum, not including taxes, not including

          3  improvements, a minimum of $15,000 a month. Assuming

          4  they could get the financing, which is a whole other

          5  question. How is this better for them? It doesn't

          6  preserve the affordability of these units. And I

          7  think that's the key reason you have to rethink this

          8  bill.

          9                 Another important reason to our

         10  members is that, there was a contract between

         11  government and the developer, that the developer

         12  would live under certain restrictions for the live

         13  of the benefits that he was receiving. When

         14  affordable housing is built today, that same

         15  contract exists, whether it's 421-A tax benefits or

         16  J-51 or low-income housing tax credits, you, as the

         17  developer agree to government restrictions, which

         18  then come off at the end of the life of the benefit.

         19  That was a promise that was made.

         20                 In my written testimony you'll see we

         21  have a lot of drafting problems with this. We think

         22  there are legal problems, but I'll stop there.

         23  Thanks.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you. I

         25  have a feeling we have questions.
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          2                 Council Member Gerson.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Thank you,

          4  Madam Chair.

          5                 Let me just first start off by

          6  thanking each of these witnesses with whom I've had

          7  the opportunity and privilege of communicating and

          8  as we agreed or disagree on some points, I look

          9  forward to our ongoing dialogue in an effort to

         10  reach a common ground, and I believe fundamentally

         11  we share it. We've just got to translate that

         12  fundamental common ground into practice.

         13                 But in the interest of time, Madam

         14  Chair, I'm going to focus on the policy issues,

         15  clearly drafting issues will be addressed, this is a

         16  work-in-progress. And we've had ample discussion

         17  earlier in this hearing on some of the legal issues,

         18  which will also be addressed.

         19                 So, let me just ask some of the

         20  policy questions and then we'll obviously have to

         21  continue at further junctures.

         22                 Mr. Carr, you referred to programs

         23  other than the rental Mitchell-Lama in the

         24  Project-Based Section 8. Are they typically of, the

         25  other programs to which you refer, do they tend to
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          2  be programs with the smaller numbers of units,

          3  larger numbers of units? Is there any kind of size

          4  characteristic that is typical of the ones you're

          5  talking about?

          6                 MR. CARR: Typically this would not

          7  necessarily include 100 percent of them, because I

          8  don't know about 100 percent of them, but typically

          9  they're smaller than Mitchell-Lama projects, they

         10  would be 50, 75, 85 units in a building, probably at

         11  the most.

         12                 So, yes, they would typically be

         13  smaller than what I understand to be the typical

         14  Mitchell-Lama project.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: And are these

         16  the type of developments that were undertaken

         17  through conversions or rehabs of existing but

         18  distressed properties?

         19                 MR. CARR: In many cases, you know,

         20  they go back to over 20 years of HPD housing

         21  programs, I mean whether it be the vacant building

         22  program buildings of the eighties and early

         23  nineties, which were renovating vacant buildings.

         24  Certainly there are new construction programs, as

         25  well. A lot of them would be preservation through,
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          2  say, the Participation Loan Program.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Again, only in

          4  the interest of time, I mean are most of the

          5  developments you're talking about preexisting,

          6  rehabs or preexisting, whether they're vacant or

          7  distressed buildings? Or do you have a significant

          8  amount of new creation as well?

          9                 MR. CARR: There would be new

         10  construction. There would be new construction as

         11  well, absolutely.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Well, I guess

         13  to either, well, let me just for the record, I need

         14  to just clarify one point, and that is, the bill

         15  does not require cooperative ownership. The bill

         16  would leave open the final format of, and, again,

         17  this may be where we have to get into drafting for

         18  clarity, but the bill would leave open the

         19  opportunity of a tenant association or

         20  not-for-profit organization to own the building as a

         21  rental, and it would leave open the possibility of

         22  cooperative, recognizing the one-size doesn't fit

         23  all, the idea being that the particular format of

         24  the new building after a 186 purchase was exercised

         25  would be tailored to meet the needs of the
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          2  particular building to assure affordability,

          3  including to assure taking advantage of necessary

          4  tax credits and other programs. So, I need to just

          5  clarify that for the record, Madam Chair.

          6                 And certainly we recognize, as we

          7  talked earlier in this hearing, that this bill will

          8  require some form of financial, you know, financing

          9  assistance through the trust fund, which would

         10  leverage the private sector. We recognize the bill

         11  in and of itself is not going to create

         12  affordability. Again, that's just for clarification.

         13                 But let me ask you, the Commissioner

         14  testified, I guess this is more to Ms. Davenport,

         15  because she covered it in her testimony, the

         16  Commissioner talked about the Administration's

         17  proposal to put expiring Mitchell-Lamas not

         18  currently covered into rent stabilization, does your

         19  organization have a position on that?

         20                 MS. DAVENPORT: Yes.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: What is it?

         22                 MS. DAVENPORT: We would oppose it,

         23  and we don't think that the City can do that.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Well, I think

         25  this proposal is to the State. A City proposal to
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          2  the State.

          3                 MS. DAVENPORT: You're right.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: But you would

          5  oppose -- he said that there was --

          6                 MS. DAVENPORT: Yes, we did oppose it.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Even though he

          8  testified that there were certain tax benefits given

          9  to the owners that would make up for the loss of

         10  value?

         11                 MS. DAVENPORT: There was nothing

         12  involuntary about it. You were in rent stabilization

         13  and we absolutely opposed expanding the universe of

         14  rent stabilized housing.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: The tax

         16  credits to which he referred, do you agree with him

         17  that they adequately compensated owners for what

         18  would be a loss of value of their investment of

         19  their property, as a result of rent stabilization?

         20                 MS. DAVENPORT: I'm trying to remember

         21  the City's proposal. Off-hand, I know we definitely

         22  opposed it. I don't recall the numbers. You know, I

         23  can certainly look into it and pull that memo.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Okay. I guess

         25  what I'm getting at is, you know, we have a history
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          2  of imposing rent regulations. We're going back to

          3  rent control in the State and in the City without

          4  compensating owners for the loss of their value, and

          5  I don't believe that the tax credits posed by the

          6  Administration would, and I -- make up for the loss

          7  in economic value of putting those properties in

          8  rent stabilization.

          9                 And, so, here we have a proposal

         10  which really tries to go out of its way, not tries,

         11  but does, to assure that owners do receive full,

         12  more than full fair market value through the

         13  alternatives of either the appraisal process, or

         14  matching a bonafide offer, and, yet, we still have

         15  opposition to this.

         16                 MS. DAVENPORT: You know, the example

         17  that I gave was that it's a real project, and it

         18  would be in rent stabilization, and the tenants

         19  under this legislation, if they bought the project,

         20  you say it's not a cooperative, but your rents are

         21  still going to have to cover your costs, they would

         22  be giving up in this project that I use as an

         23  example, they would be giving up rent stabilization,

         24  they would be entitled to it if he brought it out at

         25  the Mitchell-Lama program, but they would not be
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          2  entitled to it, that I could see, in this program.

          3                 Plus the rents would go up. I don't

          4  think that works.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Well, I

          6  appreciate your organization's concerns for the

          7  tenants in maintaining their affordability. But I

          8  would just say that there is nothing in this bill

          9  which requires the purchaser to take the bill out of

         10  rent stabilization. I mean, if one of your owners

         11  sells to another owner, that new owner could remain

         12  in rent stabilization if the owner maintains it as a

         13  rental and meets the requirements. The same would be

         14  for 186. Here is maybe where we have to clarify the

         15  language. But I could assure you that that is the

         16  intent and the operating mechanisms of the bill.

         17                 So, if we could overcome that --

         18  well, let me ask you this: Have you looked at the

         19  mechanism proposed for determining how an owner

         20  would be compensated under 186 and do you have any

         21  comments on that?

         22                 MS. DAVENPORT: A couple of comments.

         23  The first, to your statement just now, is, remember,

         24  not every owner wants to sell. I mean, they're

         25  giving up their right to operate the property, which
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          2  was the contract -- that was what they understood

          3  they had when they developed it in the first place.

          4  And if I am building an 80/20 project today, at 20

          5  percent low-income, I am saying I will maintain that

          6  20 percent for low-income, for the life of the

          7  benefits I am receiving for government.

          8                 And then it's up to the owners. And

          9  they may not want to sell it to someone else who

         10  will continue to operate that 20 percent as

         11  low-income housing.

         12                 So, that's the first objection. No

         13  question.

         14                 In terms of the mechanism for

         15  arriving at an appraised value. I think that, number

         16  one, it just chills negotiations completely. I

         17  think, number two, it doesn't take into

         18  consideration --

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Negotiations

         20  between whom?

         21                 MS. DAVENPORT: That may be going on

         22  -- between the owner and perspective purchasers, or

         23  between the owner and the tenants.

         24                 It also doesn't take into

         25  consideration the tax consequences. I mean, I don't
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          2  think it in any way represents the full range of

          3  considerations that come up in these deals.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Well,

          5  certainly we'd be delighted bracketing any other

          6  objections if you have any suggestions as to how to

          7  improve the appraisal and the process.

          8                 Let me ask you this: How many of your

          9  owners live in the rental Mitchell-Lama or

         10  Project-Based Section 8 buildings they own?

         11                 MS. DAVENPORT: I don't know.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: I would doubt

         13  any do, right?

         14                 MS. DAVENPORT: Probably not.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: So, isn't it

         16  fair to say that for owners this is an economic

         17  investment essentially? And there's nothing wrong

         18  with that, but isn't that an accurate description?

         19                 MS. DAVENPORT: I would say virtually

         20  all of my owners of residential property, it's a

         21  business.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: So, aren't we

         23  honoring our contract by guaranteeing them and

         24  assuring them that they get full, the full market

         25  return on their investments through an appropriate
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          2  appraisal process or in the alternative of acquiring

          3  matching a bonafide offer? Doesn't any owner --

          4                 MS. DAVENPORT: No. That's not what

          5  the contract said. That's not the contract.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Well, when you

          7  own property in the City of New York. Don't you know

          8  that you take the City, which has a great tradition

          9  with public works, don't you know that any private

         10  property could be subject to eminent domain, whether

         11  it's for a Jets Stadium, a Nets Stadium, the New

         12  York Times, the creation of a park, the creation of

         13  a school, the creation of any number of items? And

         14  isn't that part of the deal of owning property, not

         15  only the City of New York but in any City? And your

         16  assurance of protection is that you get full fair

         17  compensation?

         18                 MS. DAVENPORT: Councilman, as much as

         19  I respect your argument, the HPD Commissioner just

         20  testified this isn't eminent domain. It doesn't meet

         21  the requirements of it.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: But from the

         23  ethical or from the point, and that's a legal

         24  question which we're going to get into and we've had

         25  testimony that disagrees with the Commissioner, but
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          2  from the policy standpoint, isn't it the equivalent

          3  in terms of honoring a contract. If an owner builds

          4  a factory under an EDC grant, that owner knows

          5  there's a chance that there might be condemnation

          6  for a public purpose. I mean, I know that, everyone

          7  must know that, and therefore, as long as we're

          8  giving -- I mean, let me leave it at that. Don't

          9  your owners realize that there's always a chance

         10  that the City of New York might take private

         11  property for a legitimate public purpose or the

         12  State of New York or the federal government, for

         13  example. Isn't that what we did with the New York

         14  Times and what the City is proposing to do with the

         15  Jets and the Nets developments?

         16                 MS. DAVENPORT: Real estate is

         17  certainly a risky business, and when someone gets

         18  into it, they know they are taking risks.

         19                 However, when developers have built

         20  housing, with the understanding that they will take

         21  a limited profit, they will keep rents affordable

         22  for 30 years or whatever it was, how ever long it

         23  was that they were supposed to do it, because they

         24  got certain benefits from government, they also did

         25  so expecting that at the end of that period, they
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          2  would have a complete right to operate the property

          3  as they wished.

          4                 And I might add, and now I'm just

          5  talking about Mitchell-Lama and there are specific

          6  problems, and a number of the other programs that

          7  you mentioned, but when the Mitchell-Lama Program

          8  was originally put into place, it didn't have that

          9  out and no one built any housing, and it wasn't

         10  until they went back, the State Legislature went

         11  back and revised the private housing finance law to

         12  give it that, to give the owner that control over

         13  some period of time, the people starting building

         14  it. They wouldn't build it until that was put in.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: When we

         16  imposed rent control and rent stabilization, was

         17  there any compensation to the owner for that private

         18  property?

         19                 MS. DAVENPORT: When you imposed rent

         20  control there was a housing emergency and it was

         21  right after World War II.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Do you think

         23  there's a housing emergency now?

         24                 MS. DAVENPORT: Yes. But the rent

         25  control emergency is a 50-year emergency. I think
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          2  that you have to solve it through affordable housing

          3  programs and preservation programs that are legal

          4  and that don't pit one group against the other.

          5                 The answer is more housing.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: I agree with

          7  you. But the Commissioner himself testified that as

          8  a practical matter, we're going to need to preserve

          9  the existing affordable housing, otherwise we'll

         10  always be playing catch-up or at best break even,

         11  and we're going to lose much more than we're ever

         12  going to be able to create.

         13                 So, if we are in an emergency

         14  currently, and we're not suggesting an expansion of

         15  rent regulation or rent stabilization, I'll conclude

         16  on this note, Madam Chair, again, to assure that

         17  we're all working together, we are trying to honor

         18  the commitment of the contract and indeed alleviate

         19  the risk by doing what we haven't done in many cases

         20  previously, guaranteeing the owners a full fair

         21  market value price, plus some, on what you testified

         22  was their economic investment.

         23                 And I would hope we could work,

         24  because we really do want to come up with a

         25  situation that will win, and I would hope we could
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          2  work together to figure out the mechanisms to do

          3  that. But I think we're in every bit of a housing

          4  emergency as we were 50 years ago, and yet, what

          5  we're proposing is probably the most conservative

          6  approach in terms of respecting property rights than

          7  I think has been advanced. Because, again, you said

          8  real estate is a risky business, aren't we

          9  protecting you? In a way we're guaranteeing your

         10  owners their full value without them having to do

         11  any marketing. So, for many owners it might be

         12  beneficial.

         13                 MS. DAVENPORT: As you know, we're

         14  happy to keep talking.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Thank you very

         16  much, Madam Chair.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Council

         18  Member Jackson.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Thank you.

         20                 Good afternoon.

         21                 I had a quick question. And I'm sorry

         22  I missed your statement, as I was over at the 14th

         23  floor, I had an Education Committee going on at the

         24  same time, so I'm running back and forth.

         25                 But I assume that you're against
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          2  Intro. 186-A for various reasons; is that correct?

          3  Okay.

          4                 Knowing that there is an issue and

          5  concern and fear with what's going on as far as the

          6  affordable housing market and the buyouts that are

          7  occurring, what recommendations do you have for the

          8  advocates and the people that are afraid of losing

          9  affordable housing in New York City. What kind of

         10  recommendations, if you're against 186-A, what do

         11  you suggest that they do?

         12                 MR. CARR: Well, as some of the things

         13  that I mentioned in my testimony, Councilman, for

         14  projects that are expiring, coming at the end of

         15  their regulatory period, an extension of property

         16  tax benefits in return for continuing under the

         17  terms of the regulatory agreement, that's what

         18  Commissioner Donovan talked about before. It's also

         19  something that's been done with the 420 C program.

         20                 Also, these projects, regardless --

         21  as Councilman Gerson has said a number of times,

         22  regardless, you know, with or without 186-A, we

         23  really need a lot more financing for these projects.

         24                 In fact, the Council last year added

         25  twelve and a half million dollars to the budget for
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          2  a tiered income program that we developed, my staff

          3  had developed jointly with ACORN. I urge the Council

          4  again, that was theoretically a two-year commitment

          5  of 12 and a half million dollars for each of two

          6  years, so we really urge the Council to refund that

          7  initiative again this year.

          8                 There is just, it's resources that we

          9  need to be able to do this.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Resources.

         11  So, policy changes at the City level and at the

         12  State level and at the federal level to provide

         13  resources for affordable housing?

         14                 MR. CARR: I think that's the main

         15  thing that we need. I mean, as affordable housing

         16  develop --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Should we

         18  make leadership changes at the local, State and

         19  federal level?

         20                 MR. CARR: No, I think -- should we

         21  make leadership changes? What specifically would you

         22  have in mind?

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I'm just

         24  talking about, you know, the federal government has

         25  been cutting back on Section 8 and there's not the

                                                            134

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  monies at the State level, and if there's not enough

          3  money at the City level, I'm asking you, do you

          4  recommend that we make a leadership change at the

          5  Mayor, the Governor and the Presidential level?

          6                 MR. CARR: Well, I certainly hope that

          7  all the housing advocates in New York City, and I

          8  know there are a lot of talk and efforts in this

          9  direction, can really do a better job making our

         10  voices heard at the federal level than we've been

         11  able to do in the past. Because, absolutely, the

         12  Administration's proposals for federal housing

         13  programs are very serious and are a tremendous

         14  amount of concern.

         15                 I think that the affordable housing

         16  development community, which includes for-profit

         17  developers, not-for-profit developers, we know how

         18  to turn out good, quality, affordable housing. We

         19  know how to keep it affordable, we know how to

         20  manage it correctly. The government agencies have a

         21  lot of very committed staff people who work very

         22  hard.

         23                 I think that we need to figure out a

         24  way, though, to raise the profile of affordable

         25  housing, make it the same kind of issue that crime
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          2  is, that education is, and I think at that point, if

          3  we can figure out a way to do that, I think that we

          4  will be able to get more resources for affordable

          5  housing.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Just a quick

          9  clarification. 186 was always meant to be a matter

         10  of last resort, and this is important. The first

         11  line of defense was always the type of incentive to

         12  which you both testified to keep owners in, and 186

         13  was always meant and drafted to kick in for those

         14  situations where those incentives were not enough,

         15  especially in certain high market areas, gentrifying

         16  areas, where incentives may never be enough, yet we

         17  want to keep an affordable mix.

         18                 So, I agree with a part of your

         19  housing that favors incentives, and I welcome, I

         20  think we all welcome your input as to the best type

         21  of incentives we could implement because that is our

         22  first approach and the right of first refusal, first

         23  option to purchase is the second and final line of

         24  defense.

         25                 I just wanted to make that clear,
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          2  Madam Chair.

          3                 Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

          5                 Thank you both.

          6                 MR. CARR: Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Next we have

          8  Jumaane Williams, Andrew Reicher and Harvey Epstein.

          9                 I just want to tell folks, because as

         10  I look through these people on the list to testify,

         11  we're only taking one person to testify from a group

         12  or agency. So, if I see that someone has testified

         13  from that agency or whatever, group, before, I won't

         14  call a second person up.

         15                 MR. WILLIAMS: Good afternoon. How are

         16  you?

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Pull the mic

         18  a little closer, please.

         19                 MR. WILLIAMS: Good afternoon. My name

         20  is Jumaane D. Williams. I'm Executive Director of

         21  the New York State Tenants and Neighbors. Thank you

         22  for the opportunity to testify before the Committee.

         23  Thank you, Madam Chair, Council members, colleagues

         24  and our supporters.

         25                 I am emphatically in support of this
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          2  legislation, Intro. 186. Before I start my

          3  testimony, I just wanted to say, the Real Estate --

          4  the people you just heard, their objections are

          5  based on speculative greed in the anomaly that we

          6  have now, as far as the way the market is going at

          7  NYC, and has nothing to do with preserving any kind

          8  of affordable housing.

          9                 Tenants and neighbors is an

         10  organization that has 18,000 members and represents

         11  tenants in all types of housing. Rent regulated

         12  Mitchell-Lama Section 8, and public housing. All

         13  tenants are concerned about preserving Section 8 and

         14  Mitchell-Lama housing, a loss of any affordable

         15  housing in New York City affects alternates and

         16  indeed affects all citizens and residents of New

         17  York City.

         18                 Keep in mind, and make no mistake

         19  about it, these houses, affordable housing units

         20  will be lost. There is nothing currently available

         21  that will have them come back. Once they're lost,

         22  they're gone.

         23                 Keep in mind that preserving

         24  affordable housing is much cheaper than anything

         25  else that you can think of.
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          2                 It's approximately $100,000 to make

          3  one unit. So, that means if you have one or

          4  two-million dollars, that's about ten or 20 units of

          5  housing. We want to preserve this housing because we

          6  need to preserve this housing.

          7                 These tenants have very good reason

          8  to be concerned, hundreds of Mitchell-Lama and

          9  Section 8 units are being lost from the affordable

         10  housing stock every month. Just as rent regulated

         11  apartments are. The Tenant Empowerment Act would

         12  provide protection for about 130,000 apartments

         13  against the regulation.

         14                 If you look behind us, there may be

         15  100 to 150. You have to times that by 1,000 people,

         16  to see how many people are going to be out of their

         17  homes. These are people with faces, these are not

         18  just numbers, these are physical people, 130,000

         19  people one time, that are going to be out of

         20  apartments, so these people are going to be

         21  homeless. We talk about quality of life, this is a

         22  very big quality of life issue and we need to take

         23  it seriously.

         24                 There are different threats to

         25  different neighborhoods throughout the City and many
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          2  communities are facing gentrification. However,

          3  there are rising rents everywhere, whether facing

          4  gentrification or not.

          5                 Section 8 and Mitchell-Lama programs

          6  work to address threats of this investment and

          7  increasing rents.

          8                 This bill gives the tenants a tool

          9  for stabilizing their neighborhoods by preserving

         10  these programs.

         11                 We also want to mention, we've heard

         12  a lot of the objections, and we've worked very hard

         13  since the last testimony, and we took the City's and

         14  HPD's concerns very seriously, and we've worked with

         15  the Council to address these issues. A lot of these

         16  issues that are coming up now are new and are a

         17  surprise to us. We've worked about ten days, as the

         18  Commissioner mentioned, to try and get a meeting to

         19  try and discuss some of these issues. There was a

         20  call I think late one night on the weekend, but

         21  unfortunately we weren't able to do that.

         22                 And also, as the last statement,

         23  there's no programs, somebody was mentioned House

         24  Section 8 vouchers, enhanced vouchers. These

         25  vouchers, landlords are no longer even accepting
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          2  them. So that whatever is in place now is not

          3  sufficient, and this bill would make up for that and

          4  we need to pass it. Thank you very much.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

          6  Next.

          7                 MR. REICHER: My name is Andrew

          8  Reicher. I'm the Executive Director of UHAB, the

          9  Urban Homesteading Assistance Board. And for the

         10  last 30 years we've worked to both create and

         11  preserve affordable housing in New York City, and

         12  especially cooperative housing. And currently the

         13  housing we work with provides home ownership

         14  opportunities to over 30,000 low-income households

         15  in the City.

         16                 And throughout this time the

         17  expiration of the regulations in support that keeps

         18  housing affordable has been a concern, but in the

         19  last few years, the problems and the calls for

         20  assistance from tenants in Mitchell-Lamas Section 8,

         21  distressed federally subsidized and other

         22  governmentally supported affordable housing has

         23  become an epidemic.

         24                 Intro. 186, the Tenant Empowerment

         25  Act, begins to address this critical issue, and is
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          2  an important step in meeting the housing needs of

          3  New Yorkers, and I commend the Council and thank

          4  them and their staffs for the hard work to bring

          5  this forward, and in order to move this forward,

          6  I'll be very brief.

          7                 One of the important aspects of this

          8  is tenant choice and nonprofit ownership. After 30

          9  years of experience working with City Housing

         10  Programs, we have learned that tenant choice

         11  regarding ownership of affordable housing is a

         12  critical factor in the success of that housing.

         13                 In the case where tenant ownership or

         14  as an alternative, tenant-endorsed non-profit

         15  ownership is a mandated part of housing programs.

         16  The housing stock is often in better condition and

         17  remains truly affordable, creating a desperately

         18  needed permanent resource.

         19                 The passage of 186-A will also

         20  unleash the talent and the strength of the CDC and

         21  non-profit sponsored developer community in New York

         22  City which will allow these community partners to

         23  find viable and creative approaches to the

         24  restoration of affordable housing.

         25                 So, what's at risk? I think we heard

                                                            142

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  this morning that over 200,000 apartments are at

          3  risk, and although not all of these programs are

          4  covered by Intro. 186.

          5                 And despite the City's best efforts,

          6  the new construction and new housing programs and

          7  the preservation programs will not have a net

          8  positive impact on this loss of housing.

          9                 What this bill will do, and one of

         10  the most critical elements is it will provide

         11  tenants with early and quality notice that the

         12  potential deregulation of their housing units. It

         13  will also provide residents with the critical

         14  information that they do not now get but that they

         15  need to work with a non-profit developers and

         16  sponsor organizations to put together a viable

         17  preservation plan for their homes.

         18                 It will provide also an opportunity

         19  for financial and lending institutions to become

         20  part of the preservation effort. We already know

         21  from working with many of these lenders that they

         22  recognize this expiring subsidy stock, as an

         23  effective place to invest their community

         24  development dollars.

         25                 For federally insured and subsidized
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          2  distressed housing, Intro. 186 will allow residents,

          3  non-profits and others to use in a more coordinated

          4  way the resources that are already available from

          5  the federal insurance and other federal resources.

          6                 And finally, I would like to point

          7  out, and in fact, I think I heard it in the previous

          8  testimony, that not only when we're done with

          9  passing 186 do we need to worry about this, but if

         10  we look at our current programs we're recreating

         11  this problem in our current programs, and we'll be

         12  revisiting, maybe not us, exactly sitting in this

         13  room, ten, 15, 20, 30 years from now. We'll all be

         14  back trying to preserve yet the next round of

         15  housing that we've been creating for the last 15, 20

         16  years and are going to be producing in the next 20.

         17                 But I thank you for this opportunity.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Next.

         19                 MR. EPSTEIN: Thank you for the

         20  opportunity to speak today. My name is Harvey

         21  Epstein. I'm Associate Director of Housing

         22  Conservation Coordinators, a community-based

         23  organization on the West Side of Manhattan, seeking

         24  to preserve and offend decent, affordable housing.

         25                 HCC is extremely supportive of Intro.
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          2  186. We are concerned about the statements we heard

          3  earlier today from Commissioner Donovan in HPD. And

          4  I think it seems odd that the City at this point

          5  takes an opportunity to question the

          6  constitutionality of this bill.

          7                 Over the last four years that the

          8  Bloomberg Administration has been Mayor of the City

          9  of New York, there have been dozens of issues that

         10  have become before this City Council, and then

         11  people have been using the constitutionality as a

         12  smokescreen to try to sidetrack the bill, and this

         13  Council has been smarter than that. It said it's not

         14  going to allow that to happen.

         15                 Whether with this smoking ban,

         16  whether it's the recent Hudson Yards rezoning,

         17  people continue to come before the Council and

         18  testify, saying this will not pass constitutional

         19  muster. What bills have constitutional muster? And

         20  it took this Council as a foresight to be able to

         21  move forward on those bills and those issues to make

         22  sure that those that protect the people of the City

         23  of New York went forward.

         24                 This bill does exactly the same

         25  thing. You've heard of over, time and time again,
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          2  the speakers here today, they're talking about

          3  200,000 families who have preserved decent and

          4  affordable housing.

          5                 Now, the Administration talks about

          6  eminent domain and taking as to the two arguments

          7  why they don't believe this bill passes

          8  constitutionality. First of all, they don't cite

          9  what sections of statute, the federal statute

         10  they're talking about. On the issue of taking, the

         11  Constitution says you can't have takings without

         12  just compensation. The bill specifically deals with

         13  that issue, giving the owner the value of the

         14  property.

         15                 So, to say that there is a takings

         16  issue, I don't see it, and they don't say what there

         17  is. There's no court case that supports their

         18  proposition, and this issue of giving people value

         19  of the property seems pretty clear.

         20                 On eminent domain. The purpose of

         21  eminent domain is a public purpose. Here what the

         22  Council is doing is exactly a public purpose. It's

         23  taking housing that would not remain affordable, and

         24  make sure that it remains affordable in our housing

         25  stock into perpetuity. And that is what the Council
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          2  is doing by this bill, and that is exactly what

          3  eminent domain is for. Not for private purposes,

          4  which is the issue that is going before the Supreme

          5  Court now, but this is for public purpose, and for

          6  continuing the idea this is for public purpose, I

          7  don't see a constitutional question.

          8                 And if the Council wants, I'm sure

          9  other organizations like mine can put briefs

         10  together to support that position, to support the

         11  Council going forward and passing Intro. 186.

         12                 I encourage you to pass Intro. 186,

         13  because the City needs it. Not just this, but more

         14  opportunities for maintaining affordable housing.

         15                 Thank you very much.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Just one. I

         18  think Mr. Reicher began to address this, but any

         19  further elaborations on this question, why do we

         20  need a bill to establish a legal right if we were to

         21  establish a full and adequate fund to provide

         22  voluntary financing, wouldn't that not allow the

         23  market to do the job without such a bill?

         24                 MR. REICHER: I would say that under

         25  the current notice provisions of the law, of the
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          2  programs covered by this, there isn't adequate

          3  notice. And even when there is adequate notice,

          4  getting adequate information to put together a

          5  proposal to come back to the owner with is extremely

          6  difficult.

          7                 And then I think that the issue was

          8  discussed before as to whether an owner would

          9  actually even consider such an offer when they

         10  would, you know, want to go somewhere else with it.

         11                 So, I think it would be extremely

         12  helpful, just the notice and the information, and

         13  then the right to actually make an offer that needed

         14  to be considered, would be important.

         15                 And I think with that, and as

         16  everybody else has addressed, that with other

         17  resources that are available in some of these

         18  programs, or they would need to be made available,

         19  is perfectly reasonable to put together plans that

         20  could be affordable to residents and would provide

         21  quality housing.

         22                 MR. WILLIAMS: In addition, I'm not an

         23  attorney but even from an organizer's standpoint,

         24  Logan Gardens was brought up, you know there's also

         25  an example where there was not a success story, but
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          2  even from an organizers' standpoint, the amount of

          3  time, resources, money, manpower that it takes to

          4  make that happen, a lot of that is because there is

          5  no legal backing, there is no legal tool to let us

          6  do the job properly, so without this legal tool,

          7  there is no telling what's going to happen to the

          8  future apartments because we're running out of

          9  resources.  We already don't have the staff or the

         10  manpower, and people like Tenants and Neighbors, and

         11  you have, and all these other groups that -- it's

         12  far and few in between, people who have the

         13  knowledge and you get to the buildings. And a lot of

         14  the time is spent up just trying to override the

         15  legal barriers that are there.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you

         17  very much.

         18                 Diana.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: I'm just

         20  curious, I had to ask, I've the perspective of this

         21  notion that the buildings are in dilapidated

         22  conditions, from an organizing perspective, have you

         23  seen or taken an analysis to constructively just

         24  look at what conditions these buildings are in,

         25  those which are closer to a term of expiration, a
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          2  term of buy-out option, so that we're not shifting

          3  the focus of this bill, for the right of first

          4  refusal with the option to buy on the tenants behalf

          5  to be more of a burden rather than their savior of

          6  keeping their home.

          7                 MR. REICHER: I'm a little confused by

          8  the question. I'll give it a try. Some of this

          9  housing, a lot of the expiring use housing is

         10  actually in good condition. I should say that

         11  actually I sort of look forward to an opportunity,

         12  because in our experience we've worked with, for the

         13  last 30 years, in the City-owned in rem property and

         14  with some federally distressed properties, with only

         15  housing that was in poor condition, and there is a

         16  number of housing units where the landlords have

         17  done an adequate job, sometimes not quite adequate,

         18  but adequate enough, where they get to the end of

         19  the term and the housing is not in horrendous

         20  condition.

         21                 And we need to develop programs and

         22  resources available for that.

         23                 The other housing that we've begun to

         24  identify is distressed property, properties that are

         25  failing out of these programs that also would fall
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          2  under this provision, many of the ones the

          3  Commissioner mentioned, Logan Gardens was going to

          4  be subject to a foreclosure action because of its

          5  conditions, Ennis Francis, a lot of the others that

          6  have come up and been mentioned, and there are

          7  approximately, we've identified but without notice,

          8  we don't know all of them, 17,006 units in the City

          9  that are part of this large group of housing.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Distressed.

         11                 MR. REICHER: Distressed.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Distressed

         13  defined as dilapidated housing.

         14                 MR. REICHER: Dilapidated housing

         15  that's failed the federal inspection programs,

         16  gotten very low scores, and also could be in

         17  financial --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Do you find

         19  that those are being distressed over time on

         20  purpose?

         21                 MR. REICHER: I believe that that

         22  certainly, there is an incentive to keep them

         23  distressed because then our local agencies would be

         24  required to eventually ask the residents to take

         25  their Section 8 vouchers and move elsewhere because
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          2  they can no longer support those vouchers there,

          3  which I think is a very, it's a very sort of ironic

          4  kind of thing, sort of when you have a voucher,

          5  you're in this housing, if the owner continues to do

          6  a bad job, or a new owner --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Be forced out.

          8                 MR. REICHER: Be forced out and either

          9  become homeless and allow the owner then to convert

         10  it to market rate housing or whatever he chooses to

         11  do.

         12                 I think the one thing to note,

         13  though, is that particular group of distressed

         14  properties, brings with it the resources to solve

         15  its problem. It has either Section 8 contracts,

         16  which we would fight to continue, but at least they

         17  would have the Section 8 vouchers.

         18                 There is also an up-front grant

         19  program of 50 percent of the rehab cost, or $40,000

         20  per unit that the federal government must supply to

         21  the City, if the City gets involved in taking that

         22  building out of the federal insurance fund.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: I just want to

         24  focus, narrow our discussion back and forth to what

         25  if, you know, there was a right for first refusal
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          2  with the option to buy on the tenant's behalf? So

          3  now you're looking at a tenant becoming a homeowner.

          4  I mean, experience this in the HDFC's concept, so

          5  that the tenant is now a homeowner who goes from

          6  $500 to $600 a month to, because they have

          7  subsidized housing, let's say the Section 8 voucher,

          8  to no longer qualify for Section 8 because now

          9  they're a homeowner. That's not true?

         10                 MR. REICHER: They still qualify as a

         11  homeowner and they also, because of the other

         12  resources available, including tax abatements and

         13  capital grants from the federal government, it's

         14  federally distressed, or many other things, their

         15  housing cost would remain the same, or potentially

         16  even --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: So you could

         18  see this option to buy for a tenant to convert to a

         19  home ownership opportunity not to displace them or

         20  give them hardship because now they're going to see

         21  a $1,500 rent to operate and maintain their building

         22  in order to continue living there?

         23                 MR. REICHER: No, I mean I think that

         24  the previous speaker was wrong in stating that.

         25                 The costs don't necessarily have to
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          2  go up. There are lots of resources available and

          3  programs and that's essentially what we've done for

          4  the last 30 years is figure those out, and there's

          5  lots of creative and --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: You figured

          7  them out because you've seen this occur in the past,

          8  applicable to another building?

          9                 MR. REICHER: Yes.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Okay.

         11                 MR. WILLIAMS: And I just wanted to

         12  comment, the point that you brought up, distressed

         13  properties, as was mentioned, a lot of them are not

         14  distressed, but those that are distressed, I think

         15  this bill would also speak to that. Because you did

         16  sort of put it on the head. There are some landlords

         17  that do, we believe, do it purposely, because of

         18  market rent, the tenants can move and they can get

         19  market rents for it. So then the tenants have to

         20  live for years in distressed living conditions,

         21  horrible living conditions, and after those years

         22  are finished, they're now homeless. So, the bill

         23  would also speak to that because there will no

         24  longer have an incentive to do that.

         25                 And in addition, they will get market
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          2  value for that property, and they may or not get it

          3  if they were to sell it by themselves.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: I appreciate

          5  your comments. I was interested, because I know that

          6  I lived through that with my family as a younger --

          7  years ago.

          8                 I just wanted clarification to make

          9  sure that we're not hurting the population that most

         10  needs the assistance, because the mentality from

         11  going to tenant to homeowner is very different, and

         12  we experienced it every day in dealing with the HDFC

         13  concept, which is wonderful, it keeps affordable

         14  housing, and we certainly don't want to see the

         15  affordable housing be converted into market rate

         16  housing due to the fact that tenants cannot afford

         17  to actually be a homeowner because there are added

         18  stressors financially to the cost of just

         19  maintaining that affordable housing.

         20                 MR. REICHER: We actually, when you

         21  would do housing like that, they would be HDFCs,

         22  very similar to the ones that you're familiar with

         23  and you worked hard to support over the years.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Okay, thank
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          2  you very much.

          3                 MR. REICHER: Thank you.

          4                 MR. WILLIAMS: Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Next we have

          6  David Greenberg. Jennifer Vallone, Mariana Nunez.

          7                 David, do you want to start?

          8                 MR. GREENBERG: Thank you, Madam

          9  Chair.

         10                 I'm David Greenberg. I'm the Policy

         11  Director for Association for Neighborhood and

         12  Housing Development, and Director of ANHD, Inc.,

         13  which is a not-for-profit social welfare

         14  organization that advocates on behalf of New York

         15  City's community-based non-profits and the

         16  communities that they serve.

         17                 And, so when I speak, I speak to the

         18  experiences of community groups, and especially

         19  not-for-profit housing developers, who understand

         20  the magnitude of the expiring use Section 8 crisis,

         21  and who consider this a really critical issue. And

         22  to underscore a recent survey that we conducted of

         23  our membership, over 90 percent of the members

         24  ranked the Section 8 issue as extremely important

         25  and important to their neighborhoods, and these are
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          2  neighborhoods from all around the City.

          3                 Our members have led fights around

          4  preservation and contract renewals, we've worked

          5  with tenants to make sure that they're rights are

          6  ensured during the opt out process. We examined

          7  financial mechanisms to preserve the stock and we've

          8  also, on some instances, our members have actually

          9  acquired such made properties.

         10                 I won't speak directly to the

         11  affordable housing crisis, generally of which this

         12  bill tries to address, but just to let Council

         13  members know, in an effort to document the

         14  seriousness of this issue, we have mapped out the

         15  location and also the addresses by Council district,

         16  expiring Section 8 properties throughout the City.

         17  You can look to our website whose address is given

         18  on my written comments to see how dire the situation

         19  is, even within individual Council districts.

         20                 And the magnitude and breath of this

         21  crisis really should force the City into more of a

         22  proactive stance around the expiring stock. And

         23  while, as many people have said, it doesn't provide

         24  the solution in itself to the expiring use crisis,

         25  it does provide an extraordinarily important
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          2  template, which coupled with resources will go a

          3  long way to ensuring that this stock remains

          4  permanently affordable, and for that we support this

          5  legislation.

          6                 I wanted to raise one issue, and I

          7  think that in some ways the panel which spoke before

          8  from NYSAFA and REBNY made the point for me; and

          9  that is, that it is absolutely critical, if this

         10  bill is to become a template for Section 8

         11  preservation, that not-for-profit groups remain a

         12  key part of its implementation, and that's because

         13  the expiring use Section 8 crisis to begin with is a

         14  failure of market and of market forces to balance

         15  private interests with the public good in terms of

         16  preserving affordable housing.

         17                 And, so, we're very concerned that

         18  not-for-profits continue to play a role in

         19  preserving these properties.

         20                 Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

         22                 Pull it closer to you. There's a

         23  whole wire that you can keep pulling. Okay. If it's

         24  off, you're on.

         25                 MS. VALLONE: Ms. Nunez is a Spanish
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          2  speaker, so I'm going to let her testify first and

          3  then I'll translate for her and then I'll provide my

          4  testimony.

          5                 Is that acceptable?

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Okay.

          7                 MS. NUNEZ: (Through the interpreter)

          8  Hi. My name is Mariana Nunez, and I live at 160

          9  Stanton Street, in the lower east side of Manhattan.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Excuse me?

         11  Are you going to testify also? So then let's pass on

         12  translating, if there are folks here that I'm sure

         13  understood her, so you give your testimony.

         14                 MS. VALLONE: Good afternoon. My name

         15  is Jennifer Vallone. I'm a senior housing advocate

         16  at University Settlement, a settlement house in the

         17  lower east side of Chinatown in Manhattan.

         18                 I appreciate the opportunity to

         19  address the City Council today to express my support

         20  for Intro. 186.

         21                 Since the focus of the work that I do

         22  is eviction prevention, I am in constant contact

         23  with tenants who are facing eviction, very often due

         24  to circumstances beyond their control, such as

         25  gentrification.
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          2                 Unfortunately, I'm also very familiar

          3  with the New York City shelter system for homeless

          4  families and individuals.

          5                 Both the Housing Court process and

          6  the shelter system are daunting. Tenants are scared

          7  and confused for navigating a process that often

          8  seems stacked against them. It's hard to explain to

          9  tenants that they are facing the loss of their

         10  homes, even when they do not owe rent or have any

         11  complaints against them, they just happen to live in

         12  a neighborhood that has become, or is becoming, the

         13  next big thing, and their landlord wants to make

         14  more money by charging rent based on inflated

         15  housing markets. This is happening in the lower east

         16  side.

         17                 In one building that we worked with,

         18  the landlord has evicted every tenant not protected

         19  by Section 8. Many of these families found

         20  themselves in shelters.

         21                 One is still in the shelter after

         22  nine months. I have no doubt that the landlord will

         23  evict the Section 8 tenants once their contract

         24  expires.

         25                 It is equally difficult to assist
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          2  people who are living in apartments that cannot

          3  afford because they are on fixed incomes while

          4  working low-wage jobs but are trying desperately to

          5  pay their rent because they know they have no place

          6  else to go.

          7                 Too often these places do not end

          8  well, and the only solution is a homeless shelter.

          9                 It has been well documented lately

         10  that the City shelters are above capacity. Servicing

         11  numbers of almost adults and children not seen since

         12  the 1980s.

         13                 While the number of homeless and

         14  at-risk homeless are rising, their options are

         15  frightfully limited. As you all know, the City is no

         16  longer steering people under the Section 8 program

         17  or the public housing. Now they're offered a subsidy

         18  for five years that declines dramatically each year.

         19                 Preserving what little affordable

         20  housing is left in New York City should be the first

         21  step to stemming the tide of homelessness that we

         22  are experiencing.

         23                 Intro 186 can do this. The bill will

         24  ensure that reasonable apartments stay in the hands

         25  of tenants who really need them, tenants who are the
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          2  backbone of their communities. It gives the tenants

          3  the opportunity to uphold on their own or with the

          4  help of a trusted non-profit. The experience of

          5  affordability that is so important to the

          6  continuation of diverse communities, which makes New

          7  York City such a positive place.

          8                 I fear, however, that if the City

          9  Council fails to pass Intro. 186, more families will

         10  be pushed into Housing Court and eventually the

         11  shelter system, since they will have no other

         12  option.

         13                 Intro. 186 is a good first start to

         14  ensuring that low and moderate-income people who

         15  currently have homes that they can afford do not

         16  lose them if landlords no longer want to maintain

         17  the affordability of their buildings.

         18                 It only makes sense to keep people in

         19  their homes, instead of pushing them into a broken

         20  system where they will not be better off in the end.

         21                 Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

         23  Thank you all very much.

         24                 Next we have Ylenia Castillo,

         25  Mitchell Britton and Tom Weiss.
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          2                 Are you Mitchell?

          3                 MR. BRITTON: Mitchell Britton, yes.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Why don't you

          5  start.

          6                 MR. BRITTON: Thank you, Madam

          7  Chairwoman, Council members, for letting me address

          8  you, an advocate of Intro. 186.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Let me

         10  interrupt you one minute. Ylenia Castillo is not

         11  here? Okay. Is there a Joseph Olivieri here? No.

         12                 All right, I'm sorry, Mitchell.

         13                 MR. BRITTON: My name is Mitchell

         14  Britton, and I represent Parkview Tenants

         15  Association, which is located in Flatbush, Brooklyn.

         16                 Our building has 180 units and is

         17  Project-Based Section 8.

         18                 In December of last year, the tenants

         19  of Parkview were in distress, basically uncertainty

         20  of their future homes, because the owner expressed

         21  his desire to opt out of the Section 8 contract.

         22                 Although we were told we would be

         23  provided with vouchers to protect us, we also know

         24  that the federal government is cutting back on the

         25  voucher program.
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          2                 We also know that the voucher

          3  screening process would disqualify some of our

          4  residents from assistance and caused displacement of

          5  our neighbors.

          6                 Thanks to tenants and neighbors, we

          7  were able to organize and with a five-year renewal

          8  with our Project-Based Section 8 contract. If Intro.

          9  186 is enacted now, we will be facing the same

         10  threat of displacement from our homes in 2010.

         11                 Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

         13                 You get the prize. You're the best

         14  yet.

         15                 MR. WEISS: My name is Tom Weiss, and

         16  I'm the publisher of Up Front News, a newspaper

         17  around the City, State and in Washington now, and

         18  I'm testifying in support. I'm also formerly

         19  homeless. One of the few homeless journalists

         20  around, and possibly had this bill been law at the

         21  time, that may have been prevented, although a

         22  well-known Tribecca landlord, Thomas Berger,

         23  President of the Association Commercial Property

         24  Owner, saw to it that he would stop at nothing to

         25  evict me.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Okay, no

          3  commercials.

          4                 MR. WEISS: No commercials, it's a

          5  news statement.

          6                 A failure to enact this legislation

          7  will in effect say that the City of New York has

          8  committed itself to a de facto policy of encouraging

          9  gentrification, displacement, homelessness and

         10  family breakdown.

         11                 It is an axiom of essentially

         12  republican party style social Darwinist capitalism

         13  that when an opportunity to profiteer emerges, many,

         14  not all, but certainly Berger is one of them, in the

         15  landlord community, will seek to take advantage.

         16                 Again, Mr. Berger is a classic case

         17  example of that. I got away with only a 300 percent

         18  rent increase, thanks to a loophole in the law that

         19  unfortunately Mr. McKee had part in putting into the

         20  Loft Law, okay? Three-hundred percent increase, and

         21  he wasn't happy with that. So he tried some other

         22  stuff, including violence.

         23                 It is essential, I believe, that

         24  tenants in any form of publicly-assisted housing,

         25  whether it's Section 8, Mitchell-Lama, or the other
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          2  form of public assistance, which is known as J-51,

          3  et cetera, have the right of first refusal when an

          4  owner seeks to sell.

          5                 Indeed, this principle should I think

          6  be even extended beyond Section 8 and might cover

          7  transactions involving any form of public assistance

          8  to owners, such as J-51, and as 421-A, which in many

          9  cases had been served only to further gentrify

         10  already expensive housing, particularly Tribeca is a

         11  classic case example of that.

         12                 In a City which is losing its

         13  reputation as a sanctuary and is rapidly becoming a

         14  City in which the wealthy are looking down on the

         15  destitute, you should have seen the Tribeca Film

         16  Festival, unbelievable, homeless in the streets,

         17  stepping over them. We can do nothing other than

         18  exact this bill immediately.

         19                 Also, I am hoping that the Council

         20  soon takes action on Resolution No. 151, which would

         21  call upon the United States Congress to enact the

         22  long overdue Bring America Home Act, which has been

         23  buried, but a combination of Republican

         24  intransigence and Hillary Clinton's refusal to do

         25  anything about it. That's why I'm running against
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          2  her, by the way.

          3                 Anyway, Resolution 151 is sitting in

          4  the Council. The bringing America Home Act would do

          5  pump major monies into Section 8, monies to house

          6  homeless veterans and AIDS' victims. It's been

          7  wallowing in the Council for three years. Its

          8  principal sponsor is Julia Carson, a black woman

          9  from Indiana. She's got a few, you know, Democrats

         10  on it. We need some help, we need help in the

         11  Council, Ms. Lopez is the one who has introduced the

         12  resolution.

         13                 At any rate, one thing I would like

         14  to suggest, I found out about this hearing through a

         15  loop -- you know, a grapevine. I don't know what the

         16  method is, I know the City record, of course,

         17  announces these things, but there are many people

         18  who did not find out about this hearing until late

         19  last week, which is one reason you have to deal with

         20  my penmanship rather than typing. I don't know what

         21  the mechanism is, but these hearings are essential.

         22  I think if it had been better publicized, you would

         23  have had standing room only, maybe we could have

         24  built Jets Stadium for the crowd.

         25                 Anyway, thank you. And if there are
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          2  any questions, I'm open to them.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you,

          4  Mr. Weiss. I thank both of you. And actually, there

          5  is standing room only. There's a whole bunch of

          6  people downstairs, and I think some of these folks

          7  that came up came from downstairs. So, thank you.

          8                 MR. WEISS: Thanks a lot.

          9                 No problem. I kept within my time.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Rocky Leung.

         11                 MR. LEUNG: Ricky.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Ricky, oh.

         13  Lands End it says?

         14                 MR. LEUNG: Yes.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Oh, okay.

         16                 Margo Brown. Shirley Dover. Patricia

         17  Winston. Patricia Winston?

         18                 Ricky, do you want to start?

         19                 MR. LEUNG: Good afternoon. My name is

         20  Ricky Leung. President of 265-275 Cherry Street

         21  Tenant Association, also known as Lands End II.

         22  Representing two buildings of Project-Based Section

         23  8 with 244 families each, situated on the Lower East

         24  Side.

         25                 New York City is known as the melting
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          2  pot of the world. One would experience this when you

          3  step foot into our neighborhood. Varying levels of

          4  ethnicity, ages and occupations inhabit 265-275

          5  Cherry Street, and the surrounding neighborhood.

          6  Many plus tenants, like me, have grown with our

          7  neighbors, the playgrounds, the corner deli and

          8  other facets in the community.

          9                 One very fateful day in 1999 has

         10  changed our lives. Our original long-term Section 8

         11  contract expired. For the next five years we have

         12  received one-year contract extensions. As each

         13  coming year we worry about our futures on Cherry

         14  Street. A grandmother taking care of her

         15  grandchildren, a young female accountant, a dad who

         16  drives a taxi, I, an architect, and the rest of the

         17  488 total families are confused about the process

         18  and extremely concerned of losing our housing

         19  subsidy.

         20                 All tenants, no matter what

         21  ethnicity, age and occupation living in our two

         22  buildings are unable to pay rent on a market level.

         23                 Thank you to all the elected

         24  officials and non-profit organizations that have

         25  lent a helping hand. With their tremendous help and
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          2  cooperation of our owners, we have received our

          3  five-year contract extension last year to 2009. The

          4  length of our extension is neither short nor long.

          5  Soon we will face once again an expiring contract,

          6  and what will the future hold for us tenants?

          7                 Maybe our owner understands the

          8  socio-psychological, economical impact on us tenants

          9  and decides to work together with us to create a

         10  wonderful present and brighter future. We have been

         11  having tremendous luck.

         12                 But what happens if that is not the

         13  case? What happens if our luck diminishes by 2006?

         14  265-275 Cherry Street is not the only building that

         15  is going through this dilemma. Many Project-Based

         16  Section 8 and Mitchell-Lamas in the five boroughs of

         17  New York City have contracts that have expired,

         18  going through the process or will be expiring soon.

         19                 A bill like Intro. 186, the Tenant

         20  Empowerment Act, can and will protect us tenants

         21  living in these buildings that we tenants call home.

         22                 I would like to thank everybody with

         23  our three main core languages in our neighborhood:

         24  English: Thank you very much. Spanish (In Spanish)

         25  and my own native tongue Chinese, (In Chinese).
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

          3                 You have a fan club here I think.

          4                 Next.

          5                 MS. DOVER: Good afternoon. My name is

          6  Shirley Dover. I'm a resident at 2121 Adam Clayton

          7  Powell Boulevard, also known as Audubon Apartments.

          8  I have been a resident since July of 1983. I live in

          9  a building that is composed of senior citizens,

         10  retirees, disabled persons, and fixed income

         11  families.

         12                 I reside at my current residence with

         13  my daughter who suffers with a physical and mental

         14  disability.

         15                 Audubon Apartments is deteriorating.

         16  However, I have hope and faith that my residence

         17  will be brought back to standard, and I can remain

         18  in my community.

         19                 Harlem is a community within a

         20  community, and I want to continue to be a part of

         21  that community.

         22                 Harlem is currently under attack with

         23  unification, and Audubon Apartments is one of

         24  several affordable housing still in existence in New

         25  York City.
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          2                 I have been in Harlem community for

          3  over 20 years. I hope and I pray I will be given the

          4  opportunity to stay in Harlem.

          5                 I am asking for the City Council to

          6  pass Intro. 186 to help the existing tenants of all

          7  Project-Based Section 8 and Mitchell-Lama

          8  developments to maintain affordable housing.

          9                 Please do not allow the tenants to be

         10  put in a situation where they can't afford to live

         11  in a community where they have to live -- where they

         12  can't afford to live in a community where they have

         13  lived all their lives.

         14                 The tenants should not suffer because

         15  the landlords agreed on mistakes. Please don't allow

         16  this to go on in New York City. Please allow the

         17  tenants the opportunity to correct the mistakes

         18  made, and a chance to maintain their affordable

         19  housing.

         20                 If Intro. 186 is passed, it would

         21  help the tenants of all Project-Based Section 8 and

         22  Mitchell-Lama developments to maintain affordable

         23  housing and give the senior citizens, retirees,

         24  disabled persons, and fixed-income families the

         25  opportunity to stay in their community.
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          2                 It will take away the fear of

          3  homelessness, which tenants have experienced because

          4  of previous housing laws. Please help protect the

          5  tenants by passing.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Excuse me,

          7  Madam Chair. The Sergeant-At-Arms has just informed

          8  me that I am being called across the street --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Sure, leave

         10  me all alone. Go ahead, go.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Solomon

         12  Turkell will remain to hear every word that is

         13  stated by future witnesses. Thank you very much.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Pull the mic

         15  closer to you.

         16                 MS. WINSTON: Hello. Hello. My name is

         17  Patricia Winston, and I am President of Atlantic

         18  Plaza Towers, a Mitchell-Lama development consisting

         19  of 716 units that houses Section 8 tenants as well

         20  as rentals.

         21                 I have lived in Altantic Plaza Towers

         22  for 38 years. The owner of the development, Daniel

         23  Cole, mishandled funds and caused the building to be

         24  in distress. Because of his mishandling of funds,

         25  HPD took over the Board of Directors and assigned a
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          2  new management Douglas Ellman and Associate. HDC

          3  provided a loan for major repairs and the tenants

          4  were hit with a 22.5 percent rent increase and a

          5  $319 year per air conditioner.

          6                 Based on this owner's history of

          7  deceit, we feel threatened because the owner wants

          8  to sell the building.

          9                 Tenants need to feel safe. At present

         10  they don't. Something has to be in place. That

         11  something to us is Intro. 186.

         12                 If Intro. 186 does not pass, there

         13  will be no protection for tenants. Atlantic Towers

         14  is a clear example of what landlords do to tenants.

         15  Mitchell Lama tenants are in a critical stage. You

         16  have the power to protect Mitchell Lama tenants by

         17  seeing that Intro. 186 passes.

         18                 Save affordable housing. Do something

         19  for us. Get this ground-breaking legislation passed.

         20  I thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

         22  Thank all of you.

         23                 Okay, we have four folks left, so I'm

         24  going to call you all up.

         25                 Shirley Dover. You did, okay, I've

                                                            174

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  got you in the wrong. Pile.

          3                 Maize Torres. Lynette Tillery and

          4  Damarus Reyes.

          5                 Did I call Margot Brown before? Where

          6  is Margot Brown? I've got three people there,

          7  there's somebody missing. Why don't each of you tell

          8  me who you are.

          9                 MS. TILLERY: Okay. I'm Lynette

         10  Tillery.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Okay.

         12                 MS. TORRES: I'm Maize Torres.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Okay. You

         14  are?

         15                 MS. REYES: I'm Damarus Reyes.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Okay. Where's

         17  Margot Brown? Is she here?

         18                 MS. REYES: I don't know.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Okay. Then

         20  why doesn't one of you start.

         21                 MS. TILLERY: I'm Lynette Tillery, and

         22  I am President of the St. Nicholas Association.

         23                 There are 112 units and our

         24  expiration contract is about to expire on 12/24 of

         25  '05 of this year.
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          2                 Okay, ladies and gentlemen, my name

          3  is Lynette Tillery, and I am the embodiment of

          4  Harlem. I was raised in Harlem, from the sixties

          5  until now. My resident (sic) has been 356 West 145th

          6  Street for 23 years.

          7                 During the 23 years I have become a

          8  foster parent, raised three kids, become a small

          9  business child care provider for parents who work.

         10  My income will not be considered enough to

         11  satisfactory afford any place else to live.

         12                 The integration that my family and I

         13  have endured in our community makes it possible for

         14  us to remain in our homes. But with the changes in

         15  Harlem of market value rent, I'm being pushed out.

         16                 I would like Intro. 186 to pass. And

         17  my family remains the embodiment of Harlem that

         18  continues to reside here.

         19                 We are the favor that made Harlem not

         20  just low-income residents. We wish the Council to

         21  pass this bill, and make all affordable housing

         22  possible again.

         23                 Harlem has been my community, and

         24  it's important to me. The revitalization is good,

         25  but it has its drawbacks. Affordable housing is
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          2  essential, especially for small business

          3  entrepreneurs like me. My income is not a six digit

          4  to move from this great location where my business

          5  originates and is essential, would be upsetting and

          6  devastating. I cannot afford a raise or rent.

          7                 What will happen to my family? Where

          8  will we live if this program close? I will be

          9  homeless.

         10                 The voucher mentions are only as good

         11  as the place that they are accepted and there are

         12  very few.

         13                 No landlord really wants the vouchers

         14  when thousands of families have them, and there are

         15  only hundreds of apartments available. The

         16  revitalization of Harlem is a good thing. Harlem

         17  still needs its basic community and small business

         18  and families to stay so that it may continue to grow

         19  a new life. I repeat, I cannot afford to move

         20  because of this here coming in before low housing.

         21  Now, other areas are high rent. So where am I to go?

         22  I need Intro. 186 to pass so that I and my family

         23  may have another 20 years in Harlem.

         24                 I would like to ask the Council, of

         25  all my hopes and dreams are tied in the Harlem
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          2  community. My children go to school here. My friends

          3  and family. I need to continue just -- I need to

          4  continue not just to survive, but to grow here in

          5  Harlem. Please pass this act before the homeless

          6  shelter becomes my next address. That would be a

          7  nightmare that I wish me and my children not to

          8  endure.

          9                 I would like to ask the Council, is

         10  there room at your home for me? If I am displaced,

         11  can you honestly guarantee that my family and I will

         12  be better for this? Can you in good conscience say

         13  that this will be a good thing? Please put yourself

         14  in my position and try to feel what I feel. Can you

         15  sleep at night knowing that you have had a hand in

         16  helping my family --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Can you come

         18  to a conclusion?

         19                 MS. TILLERY: -- From my demise?

         20  Surely, this is what will happen. Please pass Intro.

         21  86 (sic), and I thank you for your time.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

         23                 Who is next?

         24                 MS. TORRES: Good afternoon. My name

         25  is Maize Torres. I'm the President of Lower East
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          2  Side phase 1 and 2, nine developments that are --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Before you

          4  start, Maize, let me ask you a question. Stop her

          5  clock. This has nothing to do with the bill.

          6                 Lower East Side, so have you made any

          7  complaints about the construction that went up and

          8  is almost finished? What is it called, Avalon? It's

          9  on Stanton, Christie and Bowery?

         10                 MS. TORRES: I don't live in that

         11  area. I live on 10th Street area, Lower East Side.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Okay. So,

         13  your Lower East Side doesn't cover that area?

         14                 MS. TORRES: Yes, it does.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: It does?

         16                 All right, for the record, I have

         17  made lots of complaints. I mean, I don't know if

         18  you're aware of what went on there, but that whole

         19  building construction there was horrendous.

         20                 MS. TORRES: Yes, I'm aware, because I

         21  also work for a community-based organization on the

         22  Lower East Side.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: They have, I

         24  mean they've used, you must know, I mean they're

         25  halfway out into all of those streets. So, for those
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          2  of you that live there, I've been complaining to HPD

          3  for a whole year about it. Not that it's done me a

          4  whole lot of good. So, hopefully some of the folks

          5  that live around there will be in that building at

          6  some point.

          7                 Isn't part of it supposed to be

          8  affordable housing, on a lottery system or

          9  something?

         10                 MS. TORRES: Yes.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Okay, go

         12  ahead.

         13                 MS. TORRES: As I said, my name is

         14  Maize Torres. I'm the president of nine developments

         15  on the Lower East Side.

         16                 I'm here to testify how important

         17  Intro. 186 is to the Lower East Side tenants. I'm

         18  here today to ask that you pass Intro. 186. We are

         19  at risk of losing our federally subsidized housing,

         20  if the owner opts out of the Section 8 program as of

         21  May 2006.

         22                 What can the tenants do when the

         23  landlord notifies them that HUD has not offered any

         24  or enough incentives to keep the landlord in the

         25  program? The tenants cannot afford fair market rents
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          2  because it would be a disservice to tenants who

          3  work, as well as non-working tenants, because of

          4  drastic increases.

          5                 Our landlord renewed his contract in

          6  2001, in the mark-up to market program for five

          7  years.

          8                 But we are sure that in May of 2006,

          9  when the contract expires, our landlord will not

         10  renew. That leaves 250 families who are being faced

         11  with being displaced.

         12                 We have working families who are

         13  living on fixed incomes, as well as lots of seniors

         14  who are retired living on a pension who cannot

         15  afford to pay market rents for their apartments.

         16                 If Intro. 186, the Tenant Empowerment

         17  Bill is passed, it gives families in our

         18  developments hope that they continue to live where

         19  they are living and not have to face the fear that

         20  this year will be the year when they could possibly

         21  lose their homes.

         22                 We are at this time in a serious

         23  crisis where there is not affordable housing. We

         24  must preserve the affordable housing we already

         25  have, that is why it is very important that Intro.
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          2  186 be passed. Let's stop the attack on affordable

          3  housing. We hope that this testimony will serve to

          4  inform you about concerns, and we hope to work with

          5  our City Council members to resolve these issues so

          6  that project-based Section 8 housing remain a source

          7  of affordable housing for tenants on the Lower East

          8  Side, as well as tenants in Project-Based Section 8

          9  housing throughout the United States.

         10                 Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

         12                 Next.

         13                 MS. REYES: Good afternoon. My name is

         14  Damarus Reyes. I'm the Executive Director of Good

         15  Old Lower East Side, and I'm here today to request

         16  that the City Council support and pass Intro. 186.

         17                 GOLES is a neighborhood housing and

         18  preservation organization dedicated to tenant

         19  rights, homelessness prevention, economic

         20  development and community revitalization.

         21                 GOLES accomplishes its mission by

         22  identifying at-risk buildings and organizing tenants

         23  to give them an informed and effective voice in

         24  determining their future housing options.

         25                 In 2000, GOLES helped LES Phase I, a
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          2  Project-Based Section 8, that Ms. Torres is the

          3  president of, organize a five-year contract renewal.

          4  However, it seems like in the blink of an eye their

          5  contract is almost up again. Five years have come

          6  and gone and these residents are back in the same

          7  situation, and the question that GOLES asks is, will

          8  we be able to help them again? This time not even

          9  HUD's market-to-market subsidy program will meet the

         10  demand to match current rents in our community.

         11                 Landlords will no doubt be enticed by

         12  the potential profit they can make by opting out of

         13  the Section 8 Program.

         14                 To that end, GOLES is very concerned,

         15  as we are currently working with four Project-Based

         16  Section 8 developments with expiring contracts on

         17  the Lower East Side.

         18                 10 Stanton Street's contract expires

         19  June 2005 and if it is not renewed, 147 affordable

         20  housing units will be lost.

         21                 Grant Street Guild's contract expires

         22  in August 2005, and if it is not renewed, 628 units

         23  of affordable housing will be lost.

         24                 LES Phase I contract expires May

         25  2006, and if it is not renewed, 175 units will be
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          2  lost.

          3                 LES Phase II's contract expires May

          4  2007, and if it's not renewed, 85 units of

          5  affordable housing will be lost. Not to mention

          6  Lands End expires July 2009, and they have over 488

          7  units. We are looking at a total of almost 1,500

          8  units in the next five years that can be lost on the

          9  Lower East Side.

         10                 This means over 1,000 families can be

         11  displaced from their community, and even worse,

         12  evicted and potentially forced into homelessness.

         13                 The housing crisis on the Lower East

         14  Side was characterized by severe affordability

         15  problems, as well as rising rates of eviction of

         16  homelessness amongst its low-income and long-term

         17  residents, predominantly Latino, African-American

         18  and Asian, who are falling victim to real estate

         19  pressure that create an environment right for

         20  displacement.

         21                 You must ask yourself this question:

         22  In a community where the market rate rent is

         23  unaffordable and continuing to rise daily, what is

         24  the incentive for a landlord to renew a contract

         25  whose subsidy cannot match that of the surrounding
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          2  luxury rentals.

          3                 As a community, we are fighting, not

          4  only for the ability to preserve whatever affordable

          5  housing stock remains, and we are fighting to keep

          6  the multi-cultural and diverse character that has

          7  made the Lower East Side attractive to real estate

          8  interests, who are peddling our homes to the highest

          9  bidders.

         10                 While our residents are well

         11  organized, educated about the issues and aware of

         12  the impact of gentrification, resources are scarce,

         13  options are limited and tenants are anxious.

         14                 Their security has been taken away,

         15  they are unsure and insecure about their future

         16  because they know that there is no guarantee that

         17  they will be able to stay in their apartment or the

         18  community that they call home.

         19                 If Intro. 186 is made into law, it

         20  will give Project-Based Section 8 tenants a voice in

         21  the decision-making process, an opportunity to fight

         22  back. A concrete solution to protecting their

         23  housing from the impact of opt out while crafting

         24  long-term strategies for long-term ownership and

         25  stopping overdevelopment of the community with
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          2  luxury housing.

          3                 Intro. 186 will give residents an

          4  opportunity to save their home and affordability and

          5  character of our community.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

          7                 MS. REYES: Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: We had some

          9  folks who didn't stay, so I'm going to thank all of

         10  you very much, and read their names into the record.

         11                 We have the honorable Nydia

         12  Velazquez. State Senator Martin Connor. Community

         13  Service Society Marissa Ordante. Rosie Mendez.

         14                 That concludes our hearing. I'd like

         15  to thank all of you that were here. I'd also like to

         16  thank you for abiding by the three-minute clock.

         17  Everybody was very good, and we got through everyone

         18  who gave in their name to testify.

         19                 Proposed Intro. 186-A will be laid

         20  over. And having said that, this hearing is

         21  adjourned.

         22                 (The following testimony was read

         23  into the record.)

         24

         25  Written Testimony Of:
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          2  Nydia M. Velazquez

          3  12th District, New York

          4

          5                 Thank you for the opportunity to

          6  testify in support of the Tenant Empowerment Act. I

          7  have been following this important legislation

          8  closely since its inception, and I hope that it is

          9  passed soon, before any more irreplaceable

         10  affordable housing stock is lost and families are

         11  displaced.

         12                 As we all know, New York City, like

         13  cities and states across the country, is facing an

         14  affordable housing crisis. In some parts of the

         15  City, families are spending up to half of their

         16  income on housing, and are still forced to live

         17  dilapidated, overcrowded conditions, jeopardizing

         18  the health and safety of their children.

         19                 Given the current political climate

         20  in Washington, things are not going to get better

         21  any time soon. The Administration jut put forth its

         22  proposal to revamp the Section 8 program,

         23  eliminating long-standing income protections for

         24  struggling families and further exacerbating already

         25  waning landlord confidence in the program.
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          2                 The existing stock of federal, state

          3  and city assisted affordable housing must be

          4  preserved of (sic) we are to make any inroads in the

          5  fight to provide safe, decent, housing to New York

          6  City's low-income communities. With over 12,000

          7  units of Section 8 and Mitchell-Lama housing that

          8  faced deregulation in the past 6 months and

          9  thousands more are at risk in the future, the City

         10  Council must act now to preserve this irreplaceable

         11  source of affordable housing.

         12                 The Tenant Empowerment Act would

         13  protect tenants in Project-based Section 8 and

         14  Mitchell-Lama housing by giving them the opportunity

         15  to keep their homes affordable, maintaining hard

         16  fought for federal dollars for housing in New York.

         17  Working with non-profit housing organizations or the

         18  city, tenants would be empowered by the right of

         19  first refusal and the opportunity to prevent

         20  gentrification in the neighborhoods they call home.

         21                 Cities across the country have

         22  already made the commitment to preserving affordable

         23  housing units. There is no excuse for us not

         24  following their lead and fighting to protect the

         25  hard-working families who make New York City the
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          2  incredible city that it is. With support from 32

          3  members of the Council and over 50 non-profit

          4  organizations and tenant associations, the Tenant

          5  Empowerment Act should be moved quickly through the

          6  legislative process and signed into law as soon as

          7  possible.

          8                 This legislation has been well

          9  thought out and would, therefore, have no effect on

         10  owners wishing to stay within their affordable

         11  housing programs. The Tenant Empowerment Act is

         12  modeled after legislation that has passed in states

         13  and cities across the nation including Illinois,

         14  Texas, Rhode Island, San Francisco, and Portland, OR

         15  and has been upheld in court. It also has the

         16  support of the Legal Aid Society and the National

         17  Housing Law Project.

         18                 I am hopeful that I can explore this

         19  issue further in Congress, but the more we have

         20  examples of its success across the country, the

         21  better off we are in fighting for the preservation

         22  of federal housing stock in Washington. On behalf of

         23  the 2,000 families in my district facing opt-outs in

         24  the next several years and the families across the

         25  city that would benefit from this crucial
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          2  legislation, I urge you to support this bill and

          3  expedite its passage through the Council.

          4                 Thank you.

          5

          6

          7  Written Testimony Of:

          8  Rosie Mendez

          9  Democratic District Leader

         10  74th A.D. Part A

         11      - and -

         12  Candidate for New York City Council District 2

         13

         14                 I request that the New York City

         15  Council support and pass Intro 186, thereby

         16  providing tenants who reside in buildings with a

         17  subsidized mortgage or in a project based subsidy

         18  program with a right of first refusal and a first

         19  opportunity to purchase their building.

         20                 As the Democratic District Leader for

         21  the Lower East Side/East Village, I have met with

         22  dozens of constituents who are terrified about the

         23  possibility that the owners of their buildings will

         24  opt out of the Section 8 Based Housing program.

         25                 My constituents are terrified because
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          2  they know the reality. The reality is that if they

          3  lose their Section 8 Based Housing, they cannot

          4  afford any rent regulated or deregulated apartments

          5  in our community, as well as the City at large. The

          6  reality is that there is a 10 year waiting list for

          7  apartments in the New York City Housing Authority.

          8  And the reality is that not-for-profit developers in

          9  my community, such as the Lower East Mutual Housing

         10  Association and the Cooper Square mutual Housing

         11  Association have a 10 year/5,000 person waiting

         12  list.

         13                 For years, I've worked with the 210

         14  Stanton Street Tenants Association. In 2004, the

         15  owners signed a 15 year contract renewal to remain

         16  in the Section 8 Based Housing Program. The tenants

         17  who reside in the 172 units, while grateful, are

         18  worried about their futures. Members of the tenants

         19  association worry that if the owners opt out the

         20  next time, then they will become homeless since

         21  HUD's mark-up-to-market subsidy program cannot

         22  currently meet the demands of market rents in our

         23  community.

         24                 In District 2, Phipps Plaza West

         25  opted out of the Mitchell Lama program. 100 tenants
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          2  were immediately displaced; another 125 tenants are

          3  in danger of being displaced as their "Lap Leases"

          4  will expire and their rents reach market levels; and

          5  650 tenants were fortunate enough to remain  because

          6  they qualified for the federally subsidized Enhanced

          7  Section 8 Voucher. However, these tenants are also

          8  terrified because the Enhanced Section 8 Vouchers

          9  expire from year to year and the federal government

         10  has made and continues to make cuts to this

         11  federally subsidized program.

         12                 Intro. 186 provides a solution to

         13  this current problem by creating an opportunity for

         14  tenants to purchase their buildings, therefore

         15  preserving this critical housing stock. Intro. 186

         16  provides an alternative to tenants - a long term

         17  strategy for home ownership/neighborhood

         18  preservation and a voice in setting that strategy. I

         19  urge the City Council to pass Intro. 186 immediately

         20  to prevent the displacement of more low and middle

         21  income tenants. Thank you.

         22

         23

         24  Written Testimony Of:

         25  Marisa Redanty
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          2  President

          3  Manhattan Plaza Tenants Association

          4

          5                 Good afternoon. My name is Marisa

          6  Redanty and I am the "Proud" President of the

          7  Manhattan Plaza Tenants Association. Manhattan

          8  Plaza's 1689 unit complex is home to approximately

          9  3500 residents located on West 43rd Street between

         10  9th and 10th Avenues in the heart of the Broadway

         11  Theatre District. We are both Mitchell Lama and

         12  project based Section 8 and predominantly a

         13  community of performing artists. Manhattan Plaza was

         14  long ago dubbed "The Miracle on 42nd Street" and

         15  thanks to the commitment of our elected officials

         16  especially the massive efforts of our City Council

         17  Member Christine Quinn as well as performing arts

         18  unions, HPD, HUD and Tenants & Neighbors, it will

         19  remain intact for the next 20 years for present and

         20  future residents. We are one of the lucky ones. Our

         21  new landlord, Related Companies, has long been

         22  committed to affordable housing programs. They stay

         23  in the programs for the long term. They seem to be

         24  the exception to the rule.

         25                 New York does not have an affordable
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          2  housing "crisis." We have a disaster. We are now in

          3  the midst of a disaster and we need disaster relief.

          4  I truly believe that Intro 186 is the type of

          5  legislation which could give such relief.

          6                 When vacancy decontrol took effect it

          7  was if a starting pistol went off. Affordable

          8  housing developments began opting out in droves. It

          9  seemed like rents for vacant units (whether in or

         10  out of affordable programs) were raised to that

         11  magical $2,000 point before the new paint was dry.

         12  This began a dangerous trend that affects all of us.

         13  In my own neighborhood I have seen long time New

         14  Yorkers leave the city and the state because they

         15  were priced out of their homes. Luxury buildings

         16  quickly shot up and like "Pack Man" gobbled up what

         17  was once a moderate middle class area. What kind of

         18  resident turnover do these luxury buildings have?

         19  Some say 50% easily. Affordable housing units are

         20  said to have less than 3% tenant turnover per year.

         21  When I questioned a resident of a new luxury

         22  building about this issue I was told that he and his

         23  next door neighbor are the only residents on their

         24  floor that has stayed more than 2 years. There are

         25  very few tenants in the entire building that have

                                                            194

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  lived there since the initial rent up which was only

          3  SIX YEARS AGO. He said he feels like he lives in a

          4  hotel. New tenants move in constantly and they move

          5  out a year or two later because they never intended

          6  to settle in the neighborhood in the first place.

          7  "Too expensive," they say. However anecdotal, this

          8  unintended negative result is taking place in our

          9  city right now. The result of this mindset is

         10  neighborhoods becoming more transient. As predicted,

         11  our city is becoming a hotel for the rich.

         12                 Intro. 186 can and will provide many

         13  tenants an opportunity to purchase and by doing so

         14  preserve part of New York's affordable housing

         15  stock. Many other states and municipalities utilize

         16  this tool. New York needs it now.

         17                 Let's face it, people are losing

         18  their homes. And New York is losing its middle

         19  class. That's the bottom line here. Something has to

         20  be done. That something is Intro. 186. We must give

         21  tenants a chance to assist in the preservation of

         22  affordable housing. The administration has stated

         23  its commitment to this preservation and the people

         24  want to take part in the process. If the people want

         25  to put their money where their mouth is, can our
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          2  elected officials deny them the chance?

          3                 I urge the council make Intro 186 the

          4  law. I have faith that this can be accomplished. I

          5  say that because, I have enormous confidence in the

          6  leadership in this room and I know you won't let us

          7  down.

          8                 Respectfully submitted by Marisa

          9  Redanty "Proud" President, Manhattan Plaza Tenants

         10  Association.

         11                 484 W. 43rd St. #15K, NYC 10036.

         12                 (212) 330-9285.

         13                 Marisared22@aol.com

         14

         15

         16  Written Testimony Of:

         17  Senator Martin Connor

         18  25th District

         19  The Senate

         20  State of New York

         21

         22  TESTIMONY OF STATE SENATOR MARTIN CONNOR TO THE NYC

         23  COUNCIL HOUSING COMMITTEE REGARDING THE TENANT

         24  EMPOWERMENT ACT

         25  October 28, 2004
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          3                 As the State Senator representing the

          4  25th Senate district of New York, I strongly support

          5  the Tenant Empowerment Act (Intro. 186). This act

          6  will not only preserve our dwindling supply of

          7  affordable rental housing, but could also induce a

          8  wave of tenant owned affordable housing. As many

          9  other programs similar to this have been

         10  extraordinarily successful in other states, it is

         11  time for New York to prosper from a similar

         12  preservation bill.

         13                 The increasing scarcity of affordable

         14  housing is alarming, making it crucial to preserve

         15  existing subsidized housing units. Now that an

         16  abundance of affordable housing programs are

         17  diminishing, the Tenant Empowerment Act would allow

         18  tenants to act as their own landlords, maintaining

         19  their rights to live in the affordable environment

         20  they are accustomed to. With the bill's proposal of

         21  the right of first refusal, tenants would be able to

         22  do just that. When a landlord chooses to leave a

         23  subsidy program, tenants would be informed of this

         24  action at least eighteen months prior to the

         25  conversation, and would then have the power to
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          2  purchase the property and preserve its affordable

          3  rental prices. The benefit to this would be that

          4  tenants would not have the time needed to consider

          5  appropriate courses of action with the goal of

          6  preserving the afforability of their homes.

          7                 The Bill's hierarchy of refusal

          8  solidifies the tenant's right to purchase the

          9  property prior to the developer opting out. A

         10  not-for-profit housing group could then assist with

         11  the purchasing of the development, and if necessary

         12  could position the city for assistance.

         13                 Only if all three of these entities

         14  refuse the sale will a private buyer have the

         15  opportunity to purchase the property. In this

         16  respect, the bill will maintain affordability of

         17  rental properties, thus protecting residents as well

         18  as maintaining the federal money for New York City

         19  housing. By placing the power primarily in the hands

         20  of tenants, subsidized housing would remain strong

         21  and available to residents, eliminating the

         22  possibility of surrendering precious assisted

         23  housing to private buyers who may cause rents to

         24  skyrocket to "fair market price scales."

         25                 A number of states and localities
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          2  have already adopted similar programs in order to

          3  maintain affordable housing. Maryland, California,

          4  Maine, Rhode Island, Illinois, Denver and Oregon are

          5  all benefitting from granting third-party rights to

          6  acquire properties from affordable housing programs

          7  to maintain the environments they can afford. New

          8  York, like so many other parts of the country will

          9  greatly benefit from the passage of the Tenant

         10  Empowerment Act (Intro. 186).

         11                 I strongly encourage the New York

         12  City Council Housing Committee to approve this bill.

         13                 (Hearing concluded at 1:40 p.m.)
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          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the

         11  State of New York, do hereby certify that the

         12  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         13  within proceeding.

         14                 I further certify that I am not

         15  related to any of the parties to this action by

         16  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         17  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         18                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         19  set my hand this 9th day of May 2005.
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                                   ---------------------

         25                          CINDY MILLELOT, CSR.
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          9            I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified Shorthand

         10  Reporter and a Notary Public in and for the State of

         11  New York, do hereby certify the aforesaid to be a

         12  true and accurate copy of the transcription of the

         13  audio tapes of this hearing.
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